
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Tuesday, 21 September 

2021Tuesday, 21 September 2021.  
 01476 406080 

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Governance 
and Audit 
Committee 

 

     
 

 

Wednesday, 29 September 2021 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Ian Stokes, Vice-Chairman of the Council (Chairman) 
Councillor Paul Wood (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor Gloria Johnson, Councillor Jacky Smith, 
Councillor Mark Whittington and Councillor Sue Woolley 
 

 

Agenda 
 

1.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

2.   Disclosure of interests 
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the meeting. 
 

 

3.   Minutes of the meeting held on 21 July 2021 
 

(Pages 3 - 14) 

4.   Updates from previous meeting 
 

 

5.   External Audit Plan 2020 - 2021 
This document provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of 
the statutory audit of South Kesteven District Council for those charged 
with governance. 
 

(Pages 15 - 36) 

6.   Appointment of Internal Auditors 
In accordance with the terms of reference, Governance and Audit 
Committee is asked to approve the appointment of Assurance 
Lincolnshire as the Council’s internal auditors. 
 

(Pages 37 - 90) 

7.   Counter Fraud Annual Report 2020-21 
One of the key areas for Governance and Audit Committee, as part of its 
terms of reference, is to monitor and review the counter fraud 
arrangements in place and the activities that are being undertaken to 
mitigate those risks.   

(Pages 91 - 99) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
8.   Strategic Risk Register 

One of the key areas for Governance and Audit Committee, as part of its 
terms of reference, is to monitor and review the risk management 
arrangements in place and the activities that are being undertaken to 
mitigate those risks.   
 

(Pages 101 - 112) 

9.   Safeguarding Annual Report 2020 - 2021 
This report presents to the Governance and Audit Committee the Annual 
Report on Safeguarding which provides an overview of the Council’s 
involvement in the safeguarding of children, young people and vulnerable 
adults for 2020/2021   
 

(Pages 113 - 126) 

10.   Work Programme 2021 - 22 
 

(Pages 127 - 130) 

11.   Any other business, which the chairman, by reasons of special circumstances, 
decides is urgent. 
 

 



 

Minutes 
Governance and Audit Committee 
Wednesday, 21 July 2021 – 1.00pm 
 
Council Chamber – South  
Kesteven House, St. Peter’s Hill, 
Grantham. NG31 6PZ 

 

 

 
Committee Members present  
  
Councillor Ian Stokes (Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council) 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Penny Milnes 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
Councillor Mark Whittington 
Councillor Sue Woolley 
 
Cabinet Members present 
 
Councillor Nick Robins (Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy) 
Councillor Adam Stokes (Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources) 
 
Members in attendance 
 
Councillor Charmaine Morgan 
 
Officers 

 

Interim Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer (Richard Wyles) 
Director of Growth and Culture (Nicola McCoy-Brown) 
Strategic Director of Commercial and Operations (Gary Smith) 
Assistant Chief Executive (Ken Lyon) 
Head of Finance (Alison Hall-Wright) 
Head of Democratic Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer (Graham Watts) 
Governance and Risk Officer (Tracey Elliot) 
Acting Principal Democratic Officer (Shelley Thirkell) 
Health and Safety Officer (Phil Swinton) 
Project Lead (William Tse) 
Local Government Association Graduate (Alice Atkins) 
 
Internal Audit 
 
Lisa Smith (RSM) 
 
 
 

3

Agenda Item 3



14. Apologies for absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Gloria Johnson and Paul 
Wood. Councillor Penny Milnes had been appointed as a substitute for Councillor 
Paul Wood. 
 
15. Disclosure of interests 
 
No interests were disclosed. 
 
16. Minutes of the meeting held on 9 June 2021 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 9 June 2021 were proposed, seconded and 
agreed as a correct record. 
 
17. Updates from previous meeting 
 
Updates from the previous meeting were noted and it was reported that the item on 
the Risk Management Framework 2021 – 2023 had been considered at the meeting 
held on 9 June 2021. 
 
18. Planning Service Review - Progress Report 
 
The Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy introduced a report which 
provided an overview of a review of the Council’s Planning Service undertaken by a 
public sector advisory company called Cratus. Cratus had conducted a total of 26 
interviews with staff, Members and key external stakeholders. In addition, written 
representations were received to supplement the process. 
 
A copy of the final report developed by Cratus on the outcomes of the Planning 
Service review was appended to the report, which contained 29 recommendations 
and recognised the importance of planning as a critical component in supporting 
economic growth and unlocking future prosperity of local communities. The 
recommendations focussed upon several areas, which included: 
 

• embedding good practice in the operational (officer) delivery of the service; 

• identifying areas where change to the protocols and functioning of the 
Planning Committee were likely to be beneficial; 

• highlighting opportunities to invest in technology and communication to help 
improve the service. 

 
An internal project team had been deployed to engage with the Planning Service, 
Members and Cratus to develop an Action Plan, as appended to the report, to scope 
out and begin progressing the implementation of the recommendations contained 
with the final report. 
 
The Cabinet Member highlighted that some of the recommendations, particularly in 
relation to protocols associated with the Planning Committee and potential changes 
to its scheme of delegation, would require constitutional amendments. In view of this, 
it would be necessary for the Constitution Committee to consider these implications 

4



prior to a final decision by Full Council on any constitutional changes as a result of 
the review. 
 
A question was raised as to whether the final report would be presented to the 
Council’s Planning Committee. It was noted that Members of the Planning Committee 
would have an opportunity to consider the final report, but only in the capacity as a 
consultee, with the Constitution Committee being the appropriate body to formally 
consider the constitutional implications and make any recommendations to Full 
Council. 
 
The following points were made during debate: 
 

• this meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee had been the first 
opportunity for elected Members to consider the content of the final report of 
this review at a public meeting of the Authority, although it was made publicly 
available in November 2020; 

• there had been limited opportunities for Members to consider the outcomes of 
the report, whether formally or informally. Two informal workshops held this 
week had been the first real engagement with all members since receipt of the 
final report; 

• the recommendations contained within the final report impacted the ability of 
local Members to be involved in the planning process; 

• currently, any Member had the ability to ‘call in’ an application for 
consideration at the Planning Committee if they had a valid planning reason to 
do so. It was important that this function remained in place. 

 
In response to comments raised, the Assistant Chief Executive confirmed that all 
elected Members had been invited to a briefing in October 2020 upon receipt of the 
final report from Cratus and that notes from that meeting could be shared. There had 
been a series of informal engagement sessions with the Planning Committee and 
other Members, as outlined in the report. 
 
A member questioned how the impartiality of Cratus had been assessed. It was 
reported that Cratus had been chosen due to the significant expertise within the team 
that led the review, which included experience of local authority planning that could 
add real value as an independent and external review of the Council’s processes. In 
response, a Member having undertaken their own research highlighted that Cratus, 
as part of its business, offered advice to developers on how to approach Planning 
Authorities as part of their proposals and applications. It was queried, therefore, 
whether Cratus had a conflict of interest. The Assistant Chief Executive reiterated the 
local government experience that existed within the team Cratus had put in place to 
conduct the review, which he stated had been conducted impartially. It was also 
outlined that the team conducting the review included the former Chief Planner for 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, who had offered a 
significant amount of input during each phase of the review. 
 
A further question was asked which sought to confirm how recommendations 
contained within the final report, some of which had already been actioned, could be 
actioned without any approval from a body of the Council. It was noted that most 
actions within the operational section of the final report reflected improvements which 

5



could be made within the delegated authority that officers already had in accordance 
with the current scheme of delegation.  
 
A question was raised as to how the Council monitored consultation with the 
Planning Committee. Officers would ensure that the outcomes of any such 
consultation would be shared with Members of this Committee and that the wider 
team would provide update reports as frequently and in whatever format as the 
Committee required. 
 
Clarification was sought as to why the processes and protocols section had been 
excluded from consideration at this meeting. It was noted that the appropriate body 
for considering those elements of the review was the Constitution Committee. 
 
A member questioned how this Committee would be advised of changes made prior 
to consideration of the final report by the Constitution Committee. Officers committed 
to ensure that reports continued to be circulated to Members of this Committee in 
order that the Committee was kept up to date on progress made. 
 
A member asked what assurance could be given that the Council had received value 
for money from this review and the final report, querying the quality of the document 
and its outcomes, stating that the recommendations should show more consideration 
to benefitting residents.  
 
During further discussion on the content of the final report, the following comments 
were raised: 
 

• the tone and wording used in the final report was patronising and 
inappropriate and there were elements of the commentary and 
recommendations which evidenced a lack of understanding of the Council’s 
Constitution; 

• the quality of the final report was questionable; 

• recommendations 3, 7, 8, 9, 10, 14, 15, 16 and 20, if implemented, would 
require a complete re-write of the Council’s Constitution and at no stage of the 
review had the Constitution Committee been engaged; 

• recommended changes to the current ‘call in’ process were concerning, 
particularly when taking into consideration that Grantham did not have a Town 
Council; 

• public consultation should be undertaken to seek the views of residents on the 
recommendations being proposed. 

 
DECISION: 
 
That the Governance and Audit Committee, in noting the receipt of the 
Planning Service review and work progressed to date: 
 
(1) Notes the Action Plan. 

 
(2) Notes the planned engagement with Members ahead of any formal 

reports to relevant Committees. 
 

6



(3) Receives an update report in three months.  
 
19. 2020 - 2021 Draft Statement of Accounts 
 
The Head of Finance presented a report which provided the Governance and Audit 
Committee with the opportunity to review the draft version of the 2020/21 Statement 
of Accounts, a copy of which was appended to the report. 
 
It was reported that the proposed public inspection period would begin on 3 August 
2021 and would continue until 13 September 2021. During this time members of the 
public could exercise their right to inspect the accounts. 
 
The narrative report section of the Statement of Accounts provided a guide to the 
most significant matters, which the Head of Finance highlighted and presented at the 
meeting. This explained the Council’s financial position and assisted in the 
interpretation of the accounting statements. It provided information about the district, 
including issues and challenges affecting the Council and its accounts, the political 
composition, the ambitions of the Council and an overview of the many achievements 
that had been made to improve the quality of life of the residents, businesses and 
visitors. 
 
The Governance and Audit Committee was also invited to consider the Annual 
Governance Statement, which accompanied the Statement of Accounts and was an 
open and transparent reflection of the effectiveness of the Council’s system of 
governance, risk management and internal control, including performance across all 
its activities. 
 
A question was raised as to the inclusion of the value for money statement. It was 
noted that this was a key part of the external audit Annual Governance Report. This 
would be drafted following the completion of the audit of accounts and would be 
presented to the Committee at its September meeting.  
 
Discussion ensued on the Government’s business support grants and a question was 
asked as to whether the Council had allocated all of the grant funding it had received. 
The Head of Finance explained that there were different schemes of grant funding 
introduced to support businesses during the Covid-19 pandemic. All of the mandatory 
grant funding issued to South Kesteven District Council had been passed on to those 
eligible business who had applied. In terms of the discretionary grant, a number of 
schemes had been set up to support specific businesses who were ineligible for the 
mandatory grant scheme. Funding associated with the discretionary grant scheme 
did not have to be allocated until 31 March 2022. 
 
Confirmation was sought as to those posts included in note 12 of the draft statements 
which set out remuneration of senior employees and why Assistant Director posts 
had not been included. It was reported that this section only specified remuneration 
at Director level or those statutory officer posts.  
 
A question was asked in relation to termination benefits and whether a full year’s 
salary had been allocated as part of an exit package in one or more instances on the 
table outlined in note 13 of the draft statements. It was noted that the amounts 

7



included in specific exit packages would differ depending upon their individual 
circumstances, so it was not possible to provide confirmation in response to the 
question. 
 
A member asked where the same termination benefit information was shown for staff 
from InvestSK. It was reported that InvestSK, as a company, would publish its own 
accounts so this information would not feature in the District Council’s Statement of 
Accounts.  
 
Further points of clarity were requested in relation to Gravitas and St Martin’s Park 
which the Head of Service provided, highlighting the relevant sections of the 
Statement of Accounts. 
 
In respect of the Annual Governance Statement, a member highlighted that no 
reference had been made to some key elements such as the Council’s ambition to 
building leisure centres and referral to the Regulator and Health and Safety 
Executive, St Martin’s Park or the three companies solely owned by the Council. The 
Council’s Interim Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer explained that the 
Annual Governance Statement was compiled in accordance with the CIPFA and 
SOLCE framework and contained information that evidenced demonstrated how the 
Council adhered to the principles of the framework. The aspects covered in the 
statement were therefore not an exhaustive representation of the Authority. 
 
Decision: 
 
That the Governance and Audit Committee: 
 
(1) Notes the draft Statement of Accounts 2020/21, including the Annual 

Governance Statement, prior to the commencement of the external audit. 
 

(2) Delegates authority to the Interim Director of Finance and Section 151 
Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources and the Chairman of the Governance and Audit Committee, to 
accept the External Audit Plan and complete the necessary audit risk 
assessment in readiness for the audit. 

 
 
20. Internal Audit Follow Up Report 
 
Consideration was given to a report which provided an update on the implementation 
of Follow Up 1 and Follow Up 2 management actions that were reported as part of 
the Internal Audit Annual Report on 9 June 2021. 
 
Of the 24 actions agreed, 15 had been confirmed as completed or no longer 
necessary, equating to 62%. Seven actions had not yet been implemented, with four 
of these relating to the GDPR review and the remaining three consisting of one 
medium priority and two low priorities. It was reported, however, that the Internal 
Auditors were confident that all outstanding actions would be completed within 
satisfactory timescales. 
 

8



A question was raised as to why it had taken so long to progress some of the actions. 
It was noted that the timescales associated with the actions were reasonable, 
particularly those relating to GDPR which were significant and complex to ensure that 
things were properly in place. In terms of the data disposal module, the Council was 
awaiting installation of the module itself which had caused a slight delay in respect of 
that action. 
 
Discussion ensued on Civica in respect of Freedom of Information requests, but it 
was reported that Civica was a corporatewide system. A report had been presented 
to the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee earlier in the week in respect of the Council’s complaints 
procedure which superseded the work outlined in the report, highlighting that there 
may be other systems available which were more suitable for the Council. 
 
It was noted that no priority score had been allocated to the action in relation to 
sheltered housing, however, this particular action was due for completion within the 
next ten days in any case. 
 
Decision: 
 
The Governance and Audit Committee noted the implementation of the actions 
from the two Follow Up reviews completed during 2020-21. 
 
 
21. Internal Audit - Progress Report 
 
Consideration was given to a report which provided an update on progress made 
against the internal audit plan for 2021/22 as agreed by the Governance and Audit 
Committee on 18 March 2021. 
 
Two changes to the 2021/22 internal audit plan had been requested by management 
since the last meeting of the Committee. Following some additional work to provide 
management with assurance that previously agreed actions relating to cash handling 
had been implemented, it was agreed that an audit of ‘income and banking’ be 
undertaken which had been added to the plan. In addition, the ‘repairs stock’ item 
had been removed as the Council no longer held stock. 
 
The Chairman queried the performance of local land charges. It was noted that the 
previous meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee had referred this matter 
onto the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for consideration. 
 
In terms of the audit plan itself, the Chairman asked whether there was sufficient time 
to undertake the number of audits it comprised of when taking into account some 
significant items that were included. An assurance was given that there was sufficient 
time to deliver full audits on all activities scheduled in the plan. 
 
An update was provided on the Disabled Facilities Grant and, overall, it was found 
that the controls in place were adequately designed and operating effectively. Testing 

9



had confirmed compliance with all controls and, as a result, no management actions 
were raised. 
 
A question was raised whether the specification of the Disabled Facilities Grant audit 
was appropriate, with an assurance sought that funding was being properly and 
efficiently allocated every year. It was a reported that a full scoping was developed at 
the outset of the audit which did challenge management on key areas of the scheme. 
Members expressed concerns that the budget was consistently underspent and part 
of the audit should have led to understanding why this was the case. The opinion 
from the perspective of customers going through the process should also have been 
sought in terms of their experiences and the timescales involved from applying for 
the grant to improvements being installed in their homes. It was also suggested that 
procedures of other local authorities should have been used to inform the audit. It 
was agreed that these comments would be taken away and given due consideration 
for similar audits undertaken in the future. 
 
In terms of corporate complaints, the update highlighted and confirmed issues with 
the current complaints system as discussed at a recent meeting of the Finance, 
Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
A member challenged the 30 September 2021 target date timescale as being 
optimistic but it was noted that a report would be submitted to the Governance and 
Audit Committee at its September meeting.  
 
Reference was made to ten control areas set out in the report at page 220 of the 
agenda pack, noting that of ten control areas five were non-compliant, with those 
non-compliant control areas being categorised as two low priorities and three 
medium priorities. It was reported that this was the first time the Council had worked 
together with RSM on a continued assurance basis and that this had been a useful 
piece of work, identifying and confirming where improvements were needed but also 
highlighting those other areas that had stood up well to their testing. The Interim 
Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer reminded the Committee that the Council 
had specifically identified areas to be reviewed as officers were aware of potential 
concerns which would need highlighting and addressing, so it was expected that 
there would be a degree of non-compliance in some areas. Identifying where 
improvements were needed would be extremely helpful as a result of this work in 
helping address and improve the issues. 
 
Confirmation was sought as to the definition of ‘new starter’. This related to new 
South Kesteven District Council employees and did not include contractors or sub-
contractors. In respect of supplier bank accounts, a question was asked as to 
whether this related to new suppliers during the Covid-19 pandemic or regular 
suppliers of the Authority. It was confirmed that this related to regular suppliers, 
however, new processes had been in place since June 2021 to address the issues 
outlined as part of the audit. 
 
Decision: 
 
The Governance and Audit Committee noted the progress made against the 
internal audit plan for 2021/22. 
 

10



22. 2020 - 2021 Treasury Management Annual Report 
 
The Head of Finance presented a report which provided the Governance and Audit 
Committee with the details of the Council’s treasury management activity for the 
financial year 2020/21. 
 
The Council was required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 
2003 to produce an annual treasury management review of activities and 
performance against prudential and treasury indicators for 2020/21. The report met 
the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the 
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.  
 
Officers were complemented on the great work undertaken in this area during 
extremely volatile financial conditions. It was noted that the Council’s Finance, 
Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
had also been reviewing the Council’s finances, which had confirmed good cashflow 
forecasts throughout the year. 
 
A question was raised regarding external borrowing, with the Council’s approach 
being to borrow internally where possible on the basis that this could only be a short 
term solution.  
 
Decision: 
 
That the Governance and Audit Committee approve the content of the annual 
report on the treasury management activity for 2020/21. 
 
23. Outturn Position Report 2020 - 2021 
 
The Interim Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer presented a report which 
provided the Governance and Audit Committee with details of the Council’s outturn 
position for the financial year 2020/21 and covered the general fund revenue budget, 
the housing revenue account budget and capital programmes relating to the general 
fund and housing revenue account. 
 
From a financial perspective it was noted that 2020/21 had been the most turbulent 
year for many years and one that had proved extremely challenging. The Council had 
responded in many ways, including the formation of Covid-19 financial impact reports 
that tracked and monitored the situation throughout the year. This culminated in an 
amended budget approved by the Council on 17 September 2020 which set out the 
budget allocations that required re-basing and showed in detail the full extent of the 
potential deficit the Council was potentially exposed to, based upon a range of 
scenarios and in the absence of mitigating actions being implemented. The budget 
report also confirmed that the Council’s budget stabilisation reserve had not been 
required to balance the financial year. This reserve was further bolstered by specific 
allocations to it as part of the budget framework proposals for 2021/22 that were 
approved by Council on 1 March 2021. 
 
The Interim Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer took members through the 
report, which captured the volatility that ensued throughout the year and highlighted 

11



the changes that had occurred together with the nature and level of grants that had 
been allocated directly to the Council to support its financial stability. It also set out 
details of the grants that were administered by the Council for its residents and 
businesses throughout the year. It was noted that the variance and explanatory 
information contained within the report was based on the comparison between the 
amended budget and the outturn rather than the original budget that was set in 
March 2020. 
 
In presenting the report, members noted the update position in relation to: 
 

• general fund revenue budget amendments; 

• general revenue outturn position; 

• removal of accounting adjustments; 

• general revenue outturn position, excluding accounting adjustments; 

• specific Covid-19 grants 2020/21; 

• general fund significant income streams; 

• general fund capital programme; 

• general fund reserves; 

• housing revenue account revenue outturn position; 

• housing revenue capital programme; 

• housing revenue account reserves. 
 
With regard to the housing new build ambition, a concern was expressed that 
construction costs had increased significantly as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic 
and whether, in view of this, the reserves would be sufficient to fund the programme. 
Confirmation was provided that the capital budgets were costed before any increases 
in such costs and, therefore, there was a risk that the budget allocations may be 
insufficient. In this scenario, Members would need to consider whether the 
programme required amending accordingly. 
 
In reference to £200,000 in the general fund reserves in respect of the 3G football 
pitch, a question was asked as to whether this was for The Deepings. Members were 
informed that this allocation was for the Meres Leisure Centre in Grantham in 
response to a requirement of Sport England for the Council to have a sinking fund in 
place. The provision of a 3G football pitch for The Deepings was included in the 
Capital Programme for 2021/22. 
 
Decision: 
 
That the Governance and Audit Committee: 
 
(1) Approves the revenue and capital outturn report and associated 

appendices for the financial year 2020/21. 
 

(2) Approves the proposed reserve movements as set out in the report. 
 

(3) Notes the budget carry forwards to be included into the 2021/22 budget 
framework as set out in Appendices D and H. 

 

12



24. Health and Safety Annual Report 2020 - 2021 
 
The Strategic Director for Commercial and Operations presented the Council’s Health 
and Safety Annual Report 2020/21 which provided an overview of the Authority’s 
management of health and safety arrangements to its customers, employees and 
Members. The report also summarised the progress made and identified key areas of 
focus to ensure that the Council maintained its health and safety performance. 
 
A copy of the Health and Safety report was appended to the report and demonstrated 
that the Council’s performance in relation to health and safety had been very good 
during the period of the report. It also showed the Council’s commitment to safety 
during the pandemic and the measures taken to protect the health and safety of 
those who could be affected. 
 
A small increase in the number of accidents had occurred, as detailed in the report. 
Whilst the focus was on reducing accidents, wherever possible, it was recognised 
that accidents were likely to happen in organisations of the size and in nature as the 
Council. Members were reminded that the Authority provided a varied range of 
services, some with inherently higher risk activities and in challenging and changing 
environments. 
 
It was reported that key areas for focus next year were: 
 

• completion of a planned risk assessment audit; 

• continued monitoring and review of Covid safety procedures; 

• provision of training to increase risk recognition and reduction. 
 
The procedures and safety assessments produced by the Council over this period 
had remained under regular review to restrict service interruption to a minimum, 
whilst not compromising the safety, health or welfare of customers, staff or Members. 
The Authority also continued to support significant numbers of staff to work from 
home whilst reviewing and monitoring the use of all operational buildings. 
 
A Member queried what impact staff working from home had placed upon the 
requirement to complete a workstation self-assessment form and whether this 
affected the Council’s corporate insurance. The Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations, explained that the requirement was still placed on employees to 
undertake a self-assessment and complete the necessary paperwork. Guidance was 
provided to all members of staff working from home on how to carryout this 
assessment, the outcomes of which were managed via service managers and the 
Health and Safety Team as usual. The obligation from an insurance perspective was 
that these assessments were taking place, which they were. 
 
Discussion ensued on the uniform and protective equipment issued to waste 
collection staff, particularly footwear and the sufficiency of their tread. It was noted 
that regular checks of footwear and other protective clothing or equipment were 
made and new provisions were issued as and when it was necessary. 
 
A question was raised regarding a relatively recent accident that had occurred in the 
Council Chamber and when remedial action would be taken. Members noted that the 

13



relevant service area had been contacted, with measures due to be put in place prior 
to the next meeting of Full Council in September. 
 
Decision: 
 
That the Governance and Audit Committee notes the Health and Safety Annual 
Report for the period 2020/21. 
 
 
25. Any other business, which the chairman, by reasons of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent. 
 
There were no other items of business. 
 
 
The meeting closed at 16:16. 

14



15

A
genda Item

 5



Commercial in confidence

16



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

17



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

18



Commercial in confidence

•

•










19



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

20



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

21



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

22



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

23



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

24



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

25



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

–

–

–

–

•

•

•

26



Commercial in confidence

27



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

28



Commercial in confidence

15

•

•

•

•

•

29



Commercial in confidence

.

•

•

•

Ethical Standard (revised 
2019)

30



Commercial in confidence

.

31



Commercial in confidence

CFO Insights 

32



Commercial in confidence

33



Commercial in confidence

34



Commercial in confidence

35



36



 

 

 

Governance and Audit 
Committee 

29 September 2021 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 

  Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources 

           

 

Appointment of Internal Auditors 

In accordance with the terms of reference, Governance and Audit Committee is asked to approve 
the appointment of Assurance Lincolnshire as the Council’s internal auditors. 

 

Report Author 

Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

 
01476 406210 

 r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Administrative  All Wards  

 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 10 September 2021 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive 21 September 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Resources 

21 September 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Governance and Audit Committee is asked to approve the appointment of 
Assurance Lincolnshire as the Council’s internal auditors with effect from 1 April 
2022 for a period of five years. 

37

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The internal audit function is an integral element of the Council’s overall risk management 

and control arrangements.  For a number of years the Council has procured audit services 

from external providers due to the required level of expertise and resource required to 

deliver the Council’s annual audit requirements. 

1.2 The current contract is with RSM and has been in place since 1 April 2016 (for a period of 

five years with the option to extend up to a further two years) at an annual cost of £59k.  

The Council agreed a one year extension to the contract which is due to expire on 31 

March 2022. 

1.3 As part of the preparatory work, and in order to ensure a seamless transfer of internal 

audit services, the Council has been consulting with other providers to explore new 

opportunities to procure audit services.   

1.4 Assurance Lincolnshire (AL) which is hosted by Lincolnshire County Council provides 

quality audit services to a wide range of local councils including: 

• Lincolnshire County Council 

• North Kesteven District Council 

• East Lindsey District Council 

• West Lindsey District Council 

• Boston Borough Council 

• Gainsborough Town Council 

• Newark and Sherwood District Council 

• South Holland District Council (key control testing) 

1.5 Appendix A provides a summary of the range of services that AL will be providing the 

Council drawing on their expertise and specific specialisms as public sector internal audit 

providers.  The Council will be able to benefit from the experience that AL have working 

with the public sector family but also the arrangement will enable the Council to participate 

and share best practice from other local authorities thus adding value beyond internal 

audit activities. 

1.6 AL recognise the important role the Committee undertakes as part of the overall 

governance framework and will take an active role in supporting the Committee as 

required.  AL has also confirmed they are flexible in how reports are prepared and 

presented in order to ensure members get the maximum support and advice throughout 

the contract period. 

1.7 It is proposed that both parties enter into a formal Agreement that will cover the obligations 

and responsibilities of both the Council and AL over the term of the five year period.  This 

Agreement has been compiled by Procurement Lincolnshire and is the same Agreement 

that is in place with all other partners.   

1.8 Appendix B provides an example of AL’s Combined Assurance Statement Report (in this 

case it is the report for Lincolnshire County Council) which provides a structured means of 

identifying and mapping the main sources and types of assurance within a council and 

coordinating them to best effect. 

38



 

 
 

1.9 Officers have undertaken an analysis of the work undertaken by AL from both a cost and 

quality perspective.  This analysis has confirmed that the Council will receive a quality 

service from AL from a team that is highly experienced and fully aware of the challenges 

local authorities are facing.    

1.10 From a procurement perspective it is confirmed that the Council can directly procure the 

services without a formal competitive process as AL is a shared service and not a trading 

entity.  This will ensure the Council does not incur unnecessary costs in procurement 

activity.  The Council will procure the audit services within the established budgets and 

therefore there will not be financial impact upon this proposal. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1  N/a 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Other options available are: 

• Extend contract for a further one year period – this will be the final year of the current 
contract and no further extensions will be available.  Therefore the Authority will still to 
seek a new internal audit service arrangement.  This proposal is bringing forward a 
proposal.   

• Undertake a market procurement process – this is a viable proposal but there are costs 
and officer time that would be incurred and no evidence that that the market will 
respond positively.  The proposal set out in the report enables a cost efficient and 
seamless transfer to a local authority hosted service that has a strong track record of 
providing a quality service to a range of other local authority customers. 

• Bring the service in-house – this is not seen as a viable option as the Authority does 
not have the necessary staffing resource to provide a quality internal audit service and 
would need to recruit to acquire the necessary skills.  This would still leave the 
Authority exposed to resilience and capacity difficulties if a small team was established.  
This risk is mitigated if the option proposed in this report. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The proposed option is set out in the recommendation for the reasons set out in the report. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The reasons are set out in the report. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Should the recommendation be approved by the Committee, then officers will work on a 

migration plan with both RSM and Assurance Lincolnshire to ensure a seamless transfer 

between the remainder of 2021/22 and the commencement of the partnership from 

2022/23. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There is no budgetary impact of the proposal as the cost will be met from established 

budget levels. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer 

39



 

 
 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There are no legal and governance implications arising which are not already referred to in 

the body of the report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Deputy Monitoring Officer  

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 None. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 These are contained within the report where appropriate. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The recommendation with have a neutral effect on the Council’s declaration of a climate 

emergency. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None. 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix A:  Assurance Lincolnshire – Provision of Internal Audit Services Overview 

15.2 Appendix B:  Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

 

 

 

 

40



Assurance Lincolnshire 

A Partnership of Professionals 

Provision of Internal Audit Services 

41



From a delivery perspective you will receive a managed 

service from Lincolnshire County Council. 

42



 Detailed and wide Internal Audit knowledge and experience 

 Public Sector ethos and quality 

 PSIAS conforming methodology 

 Sharing of specialist skills and approaches 

Workforce development and talent growth 

 Access to broader assurance expertise 

Since 2006, the Assurance Lincolnshire Partnership has developed excellent 

professional relationships throughout the Greater Lincolnshire, and more recently, 

Nottinghamshire area. The benefits to partners include: 

Our Partnership 

43



 Using modern audit techniques of risk based audit and our award-winning 

practice eg  Combined Assurance Model to give an overall view of 

assurance throughout the organisation, our work on Governance - Culture 

& Values. 

 Maximising the use of audit resources – balancing the provision of an 

effective internal audit service with what clients can afford 

 Providing assurance on the management of current and emerging risks  

 Having the ability to call upon risk management, insurance, counter fraud 

and health and safety expertise to support our audit work. 

We have developed excellent relationships, demonstrating the relevant skills 

and expertise to deliver a comprehensive assurance services.  We feel that 

we can make this experience count in how we provide the service to you by: 

Expertise, Capability and Capacity 

44



Partnership Governance  

Service Delivery Contract Collaboration Agreement 

45



Partnership governance 

46



Our service to you 

Head of 
Internal Audit 

Audit Manager 

Audit Team 

Audit Manager 

Workforce 
development 

team 

Audit Manager  
Counter Fraud 

Counter Fraud 
Team 

Lincolnshire Internal 

Audit Management 

structure 

Lucy Pledge 
CMIIA QIAL 

CMIIA 

Audit Manager  
 
 
 
 
 

47



Our team 

 
Strategy  

Develop our team to their full potential 

• Talent management programme to 

develop and support team to grow in 

their roles and the next one 

• Recruitment plan to attract next 

generation auditors – work 

experience, professional practice 

year, apprenticeship 

• Co-sourced resourcing model  

• Transition plan 

 

48



Our Approach… 

…is to work collaboratively with our 
clients to understand the delivery 
requirements, to agree the audit 
plan, and to deploy appropriate 
resources to deliver on time and on 
budget. 

 

Building strong relationships with 
the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee, Corporate / Senior 
Management and Head of Finance 
(Section 151 officer) is key to our 
success.  

49



Our Approach to Annual Planning 
 

 Focus is on what matters most – your 

priorities  

 Risk based Internal Audit Plan 

 Dynamic and flexible 

 Updated quarterly 

 Maximises use of resources 

 

50



Award-winning  

“Three Lines of Assurance” Model 

51



Our Approach to Audit Assignments 

 

 

 

52



Our Approach to Reporting 

Our reports are clear and concise - designed  

to inform and strengthen the governance, risk 

and control environment.  They include: 

 Audit Reports 

 Consultancy Reports 

 Audit Committee Progress Reports 

 Head of Internal Audit Annual Report  

and Opinion 

 

53



Supporting your Counter Fraud 

Arrangements 

 Collaborative working with your team 

 Fraud Risk Assessments  

 Fraud Awareness and Training 

 Professional qualified dedicated team 

 Proactive preventative work 

 Data Analytics 

 Investigation 

54



Our Approach to Quality 

 

 

55



For our team’s experience of operating in accordance with the requirements of 

the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

 

 

 

External Quality Assessment 

56



We are known for our innovative and insightful training and development 

contributions to the sector at a national level, with our audit teams, our members 

and our client officers. 

 

 

Sector engagement 

57



  Shared learning and good practice briefings 

 

  Access to specialists and networks   

 

  Audit Committee Forum – support to your Audit Committee  

 

  Training workshops based on latest best practice, e.g. Audit Committee  

effectiveness, counter fraud, risk management 

 

  Effective working relationships with External Audit 

 

  Making the best use of assurance through our Combined Assurance Model 

    to reduce audit plans and save you money 

  

 

  

 

 

  

Adding Value 

58



 We ensure highly qualified, multi-skilled and experienced people are working  

with your team delivering a quality Internal Audit Service – 100% of our clients 

would recommend us 

 

 We have a  proven track record of delivery across client boundaries, resulting 

in audit plans savings and a better outcome 

 

 Our reputation is one for delivering excellence - we are regularly commissioned 

to undertake special assignments, often complex and sensitive 

 

 The outcome of our work provides insight and supports successful delivery of 

your priorities.    

 

 

Adding Value 

59



 We are passionate and committed to enhancing social value, e.g. our 

development of young, local talent via our work with local Colleges and 

Universities to provide Apprenticeship opportunities 

 

 Our breadth of experience in the wider public sector gives us heightened 

awareness of the challenges we all face 

 

 We understand of our clients’ needs, and are committed to price transparency 

and consistency 

 

 

Adding Value 

60



Adding value 
 We are innovative and always seek new and better ways of delivering 

assurance – an area in which we are award winning. 

 

 

61



In summary 
 
We thrive on our relationships with our clients, and on providing the support they 

need, without tying them up in red tape or costing the earth.  

 

We believe that by working together, we can achieve real success and a quality 

internal audit service. 

 

 

Thank you for your time. 
 

 

 

62



Appendix A 

  Combined 

Assurance Status 

Report 

2020/21  

Lincolnshire County Council 

February 2021 

Page 1763



Contents 
 
Overview of Assurance 

 
Page 1 

  

  

Chief Executive's Summary Page 2 

 
Strategic Risk Page 4 

 
Transformation Programme Page 6 

  
  
Directors' Key Messages            Page 8 

Adult Care & Community Wellbeing 
Children's Services 
Resources 
Commercial 
Place 
Fire, Rescue & Business Continuity 
Corporate 
 

 

  
  

The contact at Assurance Lincolnshire is: 

Lucy Pledge CMIIA, QIAL 

Audit and Risk Manager (Head of Internal Audit) 

01522 553692 

Lucy.pledge@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

Page 1864

mailto:Lucy.pledge@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Overview of Assurance 
 

1 

Combined Assurance Status Report  

 

 

Combined assurance is a structured means 

of identifying and mapping the main 

sources and types of assurance in the 

council and coordinating them to best 

effect. 

It enhances risk management by providing 

an effective and efficient framework of 

sufficient, regular and reliable evidence of 

assurance on organisational stewardship 

and management of major risks to the 

Council’s success. 

We do this using the 3 lines of defence 
model.  
 

 

 

 

Overall Assurance 
Direction of travel 

Red Green Amber 

Up from 39% 

to 43%  

Down from 

58% to 55%  

High impact on resources, 

significant costs likely, high 

impact on service delivery. 

 

Medium or short term impact 

on resources, costs covered 

within existing financial plans, 

low impact on service 

delivery. 

Monitor and be aware, activity 

to mitigate risk within existing 

service delivery plans. 

No Change 

at 2% 

Page 1965



Chief Executive's Summary 
 

2 

Combined Assurance Status Report  

I am pleased to report that the Council's critical 

service delivery activities; key risks; projects and 

partnerships have received substantial 

assurance. This confirms that the Council's 

governance, risk and control framework is robust 

and that controls are in place to mitigate risks.  

2020/2021 has brought significant challenges to 

all services across the Council as a result of the 

Covid-19 pandemic which has led to 

unprecedented changes to all aspects of life. 

This report rightly recognises the hard work and 

dedication of the Council's Members and its 

workforce to respond to those challenges. There 

is no doubt that this has tested the resilience 

and capacity of our staff, but I believe that we 

have taken swift action to mitigate any emerging 

risks and have continued to meet and respond 

to the needs of our communities.  

Over the past year we have worked closely with 

our partners to achieve the Council's aspirations 

and respond to Covid-19 as not all of the 

identified risks are within our control. With the 

support of our partners, especially our district 

councils and health colleagues, working in 

strong collaboration, we have continued to 

deliver strong services and respond to the needs 

of our communities.  

Despite Covid challenges, the Council has 

continued to work towards achieving the 

aspirations of the ten year Corporate Plan. The 

transformation programme has been established 

this year and progress towards achieving the 

ambitions of the plan is good with 89% of 

activities being either on plan or ahead of plan. 

Our transformation programme has been 

established and we are now starting to finalise 

the benefit realisation of the programme.  

The combined assurance report outlines the 

Executive Directors' assurance opinions on the 

critical service delivery activities, key risks, 

projects and partnerships impacting on their 

service areas. Internal Audit have co-ordinated 

the overall assurance information and applied 

some constructive challenge on the assurance 

opinions. However, it is the senior 

management's views that have determined the 

overall assurance status which is in line with a 

control environment that promotes a culture of 

trust and accountability for those responsible for 

managing the service and associated risks. The 

framework remains fit for purpose and as 

leaders become more familiar with the 

approach, we are achieving greater consistency 

across how activities are risk rated.  

The majority of assurance opinions are high to 

medium with minimal areas rated to have low 

assurance. Where these exist and where it is 

possible, leaders have robust controls to 

mitigate risk though direct control or through 

exerting influence on others. However, due to 

the Covid-19 pandemic, the council has 

experienced some change in the critical areas of 

risk. These can be summarised as:  

 Safeguarding – Due to the restrictions on 

home visiting and the reduced visibility of 

children due to the partial closure of schools, 

this risk has increased although the position 

is improving and it's expected the assurance 

will move back to substantial.  

 

 Business Continuity and Resilience – The 

last year has seen staff working 

predominately from home and the return to 

offices will see them working in line with 

"Smarter Working" which is a very new way 

of working. We have also asked our 

workforce to be re-deployed to maintain our 

critical services during Covid and are 

delighted that our staff have responded to 

these requests. I am pleased to report that 

our business continuity plans have been 

successful and have responded to the 

pandemic.  

 

 Funding – The pandemic has placed extra 

strain on our budgets due to additional 

activity and lost income, however, we have 

maintained strong financial management 

across the council. We have received 

additional income from government to 

respond to the pandemic, which has enabled 

Page 2066



3 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

us to support our communities. Longer term, 

the national position is less clear with 

government setting a one year budget. It is 

important that the longer term position on 

fairer funding and funding for adult social 

care is confirmed to enable us to plan 

effectively.  

 

 Market Supply - Adequacy of market supply 

to meet eligible needs across a number of 

directorates within the Council remains a risk 

especially across children, adult and 

transport services. We have strong 

relationships with providers, robust contract 

management arrangements and Children's 

Services are increasing in house provision 

for residential care and supported 

accommodation to mitigate this risk. We are 

undertaking a review of transport as part of 

the transformation programme.  

 

 IMT and Information Governance - 

Improvements have been made within IMT 

over the past year and the assurance level 

has increased to substantial. Cyber security 

is a high risk with an improved position but 

the main outstanding control means 

assurance is still limited.  

 

 Workforce – Our human resource 

performance indicators remain strong with 

low staff turnover and sickness, but risk is 

focused on our ability to recruit and retain 

staff in high risk areas e.g. social work, 

legal, engineers etc. Proactive work 

continuing in this area.  

 

This report has identified and confirmed our 

areas of strength and areas for improvement.  

The Covid-19 pandemic has brought 

unprecedented challenges to all aspects of life 

and this report rightly recognises the additional 

risks the pandemic places on the delivery of our 

services, however, I am pleased that we have 

maintained momentum across all our services 

which confirms that the Council's governance, 

risk and control framework is robust and that 

controls are in place to mitigate risks.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

Page 2167



Strategic Risks 

4 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

 

Good risk management is part of the way we work. It is about taking the right risks when making 

decisions or where we need to encourage innovation in times of major change – balancing risk, 

quality, cost and affordability.  This put us in a stronger position to deliver our goals and provide 

excellent services. 

The unprecedented events of Covid19 have resulted in changes to the priorities of the risk 

management programme and have also impacted the culture around risk management.  

To ensure that key red risks and issues arising from the crisis were being identified and managed, 

an initial exercise was undertaken across services leading to weekly then monthly reporting to CLT – 

now quarterly. 

In addition to the red risks and issues, our Strategic Risk Register is regularly reviewed and our risks 

are being effectively managed.  

Risk Mitigating actions Risk rating 
Level of 
assurance 

 

DoT 

Safeguarding 
children  

This has moved to a high risk and limited assurance 
due to the controls identified not being as robust as 
they were pre-Covid. The position is improving and it's 
expected the assurance will move back to substantial. 

Red Limited 

  

Safeguarding 
adults  

Programme in place to develop and implement 
suitable assurance frameworks for commissioned 
services & personal budgets. 

Amber Substantial 

 

Business 
continuity and 
resilience  

Programme in place to review and test continuity and 
recovery plans 

Amber Substantial 

 

Market Supply – 
Adequacy of 
market supply to 
meet eligible 
needs across a 
number of 
directorates 
within the Council  

Strong relationships with providers & funding for 
residential care secured. Improved contract 
management. 

Amber Limited 

 

Ability to deliver 
our programme 
of designated 
projects  

Major projects – this has been defined in terms of risk 
and controls. It has also been reworded to reflect and 
improve assurance around the Transformation 
Programme. 

Amber Substantial 

 

Funding and 
maintaining 
financial 
resilience 

2021/22 budget setting underway supported by MTFS. 
Good financial management and monitoring. 

Amber Substantial 

 

Ability to recruit 
and retain staff in 
high risk areas  

Proactive work continuing in this area  Amber  Substantial  

 

= 

Page 2268



Strategic Risks 

5 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

Risk Mitigating actions Risk rating 
Level of 
assurance 

 

DoT 

Ensuring 
contracts and 
markets (other 
than adult care) 
are fit for 
purpose 

Commercial team supports the business with ongoing 
work to strengthen contract management (intelligent 
client) and learning from procurement/existing 
contracts 

Amber Limited 

 

 = 
 

The risk of a 
successful cyber-
attack against the 
council with 
significant / 
critical impact  

Cyber security is a high risk with an improved position 
but the main outstanding control means assurance is 
still limited. 

Red Limited 

 

IT Infrastructure – 
the ability to 
implement 
transformational 
aspirations and 
deliver business 
as usual  

Improvements made within IT over the past few 
months have seen the assurance level increased to 
substantial. 

Amber Substantial  

 
 
 

Key Risk Assurance  

Red  High impact on resources, significant costs likely, high impact 
on service delivery  

Low level of confidence over the 
design and operation of controls, 
performance or management of 
risk 

 

Amber 
 

Medium or short term impact on resources, cost covered 
within existing financial plans, low impact on service delivery  

Medium level of confidence over 
the design and operation of 
controls, performance or 
management of risk 

 

Green 
 

Monitor and be aware , activity to mitigate the risk within 
existing service delivery plans / management arrangements 

High level of confidence over the 
design and operation of controls, 
performance or management of 
risk 

 

 Direction of Travel (DoT)   

  
Improving 

  
Static 

 

NOTE – based on risk assessment completed August 2020. 

= 

Page 2369



Transformation Programme 

6 

Combined Assurance Status Report  

 

Programme Assurance - Amber 
Programme Governance 
Assurance 

Green 

Programme Delivery 
Assurance 

Amber 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Projects 

Amber Green 

Workforce Strategy, 

Policy & Structure 

Commissioning Review 

Smarter Working 

Programme 

Passenger Transport Review 

Business Support 

Review 

Corporate Support Services 

Re-commissioning Review 

Business World 

Redesign 

Intranet Replacement 

Business Analytics 

and Visualisation 

Business Process Redesign 

 Adults Demand Management 

 SEND – High Needs 

transformation 

 Children in Care 

Transformation 

 CSC Review/Digital customer 

 Website Development 

 Green Master Plan 

 

The Corporate Plan sets out the goals and 

ambitions the Council wishes to achieve for its 

residents over the coming years.  Effective 

delivery of the Plan is supported by the 

Transformation Programme – a dedicated 

programme to monitor, expedite and ensure that 

transformational change is implemented 

effectively and realises intended benefits. 

The Programme comprises a number of projects 

that will positively impact on residents, 

operations, staff and other Council stakeholders. 

The Transformation Programme provides LCC 

with the opportunity to promote learning from 

each other and work collaboratively to identify 

new and improved ways to support wider council 

objectives. We have for many years been 

excellent at service led transformation; enabling 

us to become a strong Council with nationally 

recognised services. We now want to build on 

this success for all parts of the Council. 

The Transformation Programme brings our most 

high profile projects together to give far greater 

visibility, corporate oversight and accountability 

of key activity, assurance of funding being spent 

on Council priorities and confidence that benefits 

are being realised. 

Activity within the Transformation Programme 

has now started, with many projects now stood 

up and being delivered, however it is still very 

much in its infancy with detailed costs, benefits, 

timescales and outcomes being developed and 

refined as we start to shape our future target 

operating model.   

Communications have now begun with staff, with 

an overview of the programme shared during the 

corporate staff briefings sessions and regular 

email updates are now in place to ensure staff 

are kept up to date with developments more 

generally, with specific targeted communication 

in place based on individual project 

requirements.  To assist with the implementation 

and realisation of the changes that the 

programme will bring, we are looking to establish 

a network of change influencers to provide local 

assistance and guidance with technical 

Project Assurance 
 

          

 

R 
 

A 
 

G 

NONE 31% 69% 

Page 2470



Transformation Programme 

7 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

developments and to support approaches to new 

ways of working. 

Detailed project initiation documentation (PID) is 

being developed for each project which defines 

the project scope, management and overall 

success criteria that the project team can go 

back to during the project to ensure it remains on 

track and is achieving the intended goals.  

To ensure there is the appropriate oversight and 

governance in place, a member of the Corporate 

Leadership Team (CLT) has been identified as a 

senior sponsor for each project and the following 

reporting and governance arrangements have 

been established: 

 Regular project progress updates to the 

project lead and CLT sponsor. 

 Weekly project manager meetings to share 

information on each project, lessons learnt, 

progress etc. and to identify 

interdependencies. 

 Regular project boards (minimum monthly) to 

drive the delivery of each project. 

 Monthly Transformation Programme steering 

board which brings together identified project 

leads and supporting corporate functions 

such as HR, Finance, Audit and Business 

Support to provide the strategic programme 

direction and programme level decision 

making. 

 Monthly CLT governance meetings to report 

on progress, address issues, agree future 

priorities to come into the programme and to 

provide strategic decision making. 

 Political reporting into required committees 

for progress monitoring, engagement and 

decision making as required. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 2571



Director's Key Messages 
 

8 

Combined Assurance Status Report  

Adult Care and 

Community Wellbeing 

To help Lincolnshire residents stay as healthy, 

safe and independent as possible during all stages 

of their life. 

 

Critical Activities 

Red Amber 

None Specialist Adult services: Directly 
Provided Services 

 Specialist adult services: 
Learning disabilities assessment 
and care management 

 Specialist adult services: Autism 
and Mental health 18-64 

 Adult Frailty and Long Term 
Conditions 

 Adult Care Finance (Serco) 

 Budget and Financial 
Management 

 Housing Related Support 

 One You 
 

 

Red Risks 
Risk Identified Risk 

Rating 
Risk 
Assurance 

Impact of Covid-19 on Market 
sustainability of Adult Social 
Care and Community 
Wellbeing Service providers 

R R 

 

2020/2021 will no doubt prove to be a historic 

moment as a direct result of the impact of Covid-

19 at global, national and local levels. The work of 

the Directorate has also been directly impacted. 

Our general experience has been one in which 

sustained and additional pressure – between wave 

1 and wave 2 - led to a rapid evolution in new 

ways of working and even greater levels of 

collaboration and mutual aid. It has been a year in 

which Public Health colleagues within the 

Directorate came into their own. We also saw a 

much, much greater use of digital technology. The 

Directorate's response, along with our strategic 

partners, has been truly remarkable and in large 

measure (as the Care Quality Commission 

national evaluation identified) was down to the 

relationships that existed locally BEFORE Covid 

19 and the structures we had in place.  

The continuation, indeed increase, in 

governmental use of short term funding for social 

care in particular, continues to reflect short term 

fixes in the absence of long term policy and 

funding solutions.   

The change in overall levels of assurance is a 

direct consequence of Covid-19 and how the 

Government chose to respond to it. For example, 

there has been a significant reduction in use of 

residential services of approximately 8% locally, 

and this has and will impact on the viability of that 

sector of the social care market. There have also 

been moments when the capacity in home care 

services dipped below 80% as a direct result of 

test, track and trace. Despite all, the level of 

common purpose and collective endeavour has 

been a delight to see. 

The combined effect of three major 'events' in both 

the short and long term cannot be under-

estimated. First, we have entered a period in 

Overall Assurance 
Direction of travel 

R G A 

Up from 

0% to 2%  

Up from 

28% to 43%  

Down 

from 72% 

to 55% 

Page 2672



Director's Key Messages 
 

9 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

which Covid-19 transmission rates in Lincolnshire 

have grown significantly (wave 2) from what they 

were at the beginning in March; second Brexit is 

about to become a reality and third the more 

familiar Winter Pressures are upon us.  

Those same strengths that we have of strong 

relationships and robust structures with a sound 

financial underpinning should mean that, despite a 

bumpy few months ahead, at some point in 2021 

we will be able to look ahead to a more stable, 

though rather different world. 

I am delighted to say that the Directorate will 

record a ninth successive year in which it will 

balance financially. Members should be rightly 

proud of the simple narrative that says we spend 

less but deliver good to excellent results – even in 

such a year as this.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 2773



Director's Key Messages 
 

10 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

Children's Services 

The Children's Services directorate brings together 

our children's social care, education and health 

provision to deliver integrated services for the 

benefit of Children and Families in Lincolnshire. 

 

           Critical Activities 
Red   Amber 

  Safeguarding Regulated  

  Safeguarding Locality 

  Early Help Locality 

  Early years 

  Quality and Standards 

  Education of Looked After 
Children 

  Youth Offending 

  Futures 4 Me 

  Home to school Transport 

  Public Health nursing 

  Monitoring  Performance of 
Schools and Academies 

  Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities 

  Educational Psychology 

  Occupational Therapy Team 

  Closing the Attainment Gap 

 
 

Red Risks 

Risk Identified Risk 
Rating 

Risk 
Assurance 

Delays in court proceedings 
both in criminal justice system, 
public law and private law  
  

R A 

Business continuity plans fail 
 

R A 

Pressure in family homes 
during lockdown 

R A 

 
Lincolnshire's Children's Services continues to be 

judged Outstanding by Ofsted and the 

appointment of a substantive Executive Director of 

Children's Services has ensured continuity of 

leadership 

We continue to be a Partner in Practice with the 

Department for Education (DfE) which has meant 

we have been able to develop new innovative 

services for Lincolnshire and support other local 

authorities on their improvement journey. An 

independent evaluation completed by the DfE has 

celebrated the impact of our work. 

The Covid-19 pandemic has brought 

unprecedented challenges to all aspects of life and 

this report rightly recognises the additional risks 

the pandemic places on the delivery of our 

services.   

 

Monitoring performance of schools and 

academies - National school assessments have 

not been conducted in the usual way, which has 

meant we do not have access to our usual 

datasets as an indicator, which has impacted on 

monitoring of the performance of schools and 

academies. We are managing risk by using other 

local intelligence and discussion with schools. In 

addition to this, school and council activities 

around closing the attainment gap for pupils 

eligible for free school meals have been further 

impacted by the extended school closure to most 

pupils. The pandemic and the economic impact 

have meant the number of children considered 

within this group has increased by 30%. We are 

working with schools to implement the government 

Overall Assurance 
Direction of travel 

R G A 

Static at 

0%  
Up from 

24% to 59%  

Down 

from 76% 

to 41% 

Page 2874



Director's Key Messages 
 

11 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

funded catch up programmes to mitigate concerns 

in this area. 

 

Home to School Transport - The Council has a 

statutory duty to identify transport needs and to 

provide services where these would not otherwise 

be met. There are a number of factors contributing 

to a challenging local picture for the delivery of 

home to school transport in Lincolnshire. Whilst 

the Service has continued to achieve continuity of 

its essential public services during the recent 

period of disruption as a result of Covid-19, we are 

now looking to the future to mitigate and address 

these factors to ensure sustainable, cost-effective 

and modern services.  The challenges include 

emerging National Transport Policy and new 

legislation such as the Public Service Vehicle 

Accessibility Regulations 2000 (PSVAR). 

Lincolnshire is a large rural county, logistically 

complex and with a limited and increasingly fragile 

transport market. We are undertaking a passenger 

transport review to establish a passenger network 

for Lincolnshire that is as efficient as possible, fit 

for the future and is focussed on its purpose. 

 

Educational Psychology - Children's Services 

are piloting a new model of Educational 

Psychology which is now delivering quality and 

timely assessment reports following a period of 

underperformance. This model will need to be 

reviewed and a permanent new model will need to 

be agreed to provide full assurance in this area.  

 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities – In 

line with the national picture, demand for 

Education, Health and Care plans continues to 

grow in Lincolnshire with significant implications 

for children and young people and the 

sustainability of services due to cost pressures.  

We are implementing a significant multi-agency 

transformation plan to enhance our early 

intervention, drive a consistent understanding of 

needs and provision and deliver improved 

outcomes for children and young people. We are 

seeing a promising impact but implementation will 

need to be more embedded before full assurance 

could be given.  

 

Education of Looked After Children – Our 

Virtual School team has worked tirelessly with 

schools, social workers and carers to support 

children and young people's learning virtually. 

However, we do not yet fully understand the 

impact on this vulnerable cohort of schools being 

closed to most pupils for an extended period and 

the on-going disruption to their education as a 

result of the pandemic. 

 

Safeguarding (Locality and Regulated), Futures 

4 Me, Quality and standards and Early Help – 

Our teams across all of these vital services have 

adapted admirably to the impact of Covid-19 on 

the way in which they are able to work. They have 

been innovative and dedicated in finding new 

approaches to support children and families. 

However, the pandemic continues and there is still 

medium and long term uncertainty with regard to 

any impact on staff capacity, future funding 

pressures and placement provision for children in 

care.  

 

Early Years – Whilst our Children's Centres have 

remained open for Midwifery and Children's Public 

Health Nursing care, much of our targeted Early 

Years delivery was forced to move to delivering 

sessions virtually. Our Early Years Specialist 

Teachers and Practitioners continue to support our 

most vulnerable children and families and we have 

a plan in place to return to full delivery when it is 

safe and possible to do so. 

 

Occupational Therapy – Our Occupational 

Therapy team had improved the timeliness of 

assessment for children and young people 

significantly following an increase in capacity.  

However, the national lockdown meant that face to 

face assessments could not be undertaken which 

has led to increased waiting times. The team are 

now working to address this and robust monitoring 

is in place. 

 

Despite the risk the Covid-19 pandemic has 

placed on many of our critical activity, teams 

across Children's Services have responded with 

compassion and dedication to ensure we have 

maintained a strong performance across all of our 

Page 2975



Director's Key Messages 
 

12 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

key indicators. Our services have put children and 

young people at the heart of decisions they have 

made and this has mitigated adverse service 

delivery.   

 

We have continued to innovate and transform 

services whilst responding to the challenges of the 

pandemic and this will place us in a strong position 

to recover and move to an even stronger set of 

services in the coming months and year. 

 

Page 3076



Director's Key Messages 
 

13 

Combined Assurance Status Report  

Resources  

The Resources Directorate brings together our 

money, governance and people support functions. 

In November 2020 services within Public 

Protection joined the directorate. 

 

Critical Activities 
Red Amber 
None Debtors 

 Grant Income & Claims 

 Capital Programme 

 Accountancy Closedown 

 Health & Safety 

 Conduct Investigations 

 Internal Audit 

 Freedom of Information & Subject 
Access Requests 

 System co-ordination Centre – 
track & trace 

 Legal – Childcare Internal 
Resourcing of Delivery 

 Records Management 

 Workforce Strategy 

 HR Services 

 Talent, Resourcing & Learning 

 Safer Together 

 Community Safety 
 

 

Red Risks 
Risk identified Risk 

rating 
Risk 
assurance 

Brexit / Covid-19 – potential 
impact on pension fund 
investments 
 

R R 

The Council's legal 
obligations/service delivery 
requirements are not being 
met due to an inconsistent 
and fragmented approach to 
the management of hard 
copy records 
 

R A 

Reductions in instructions 
creating a shortfall against 
budgeted income target 
 

R G 

Future increased demand on 
hard to recruit services, 
particularly child care, as a 
result of backlogs building up 
in the court system and 
potential new cases 
 

R A 

Failure to maximise 
Apprenticeship Levy 
 

R A 

Brexit impact - trading 
standards & community 
disorder 
 

R A 

 

Like all Council directorates, 2020/21 has proved 

to be a challenging year for Resources as we have 

grappled with effects of the pandemic. There is not 

a service that has not had some element of its 

annual plan blown off course as we have 

supported and enabled other parts of the 

organisation in its response.  

In our people services, we have had to be fleet of 

foot to respond to rapidly changing government 

guidance and deploy our business support team to 

support all manner of tasks as they have arisen.  

In our finance based activities, the pandemic has 

placed extra strain through the volume and 

continually changing government returns we have 

been required to submit. Whilst not Covid-19 

related, the delay to the publication of the 

Council’s accounts is a disappointment.   

Overall Assurance 
Direction of travel 

 
 
 
  

R G A 

Static 

at 1% 
Static 

at 35% 

Static 

at 64% 

 
Static 

at 1% 

 Down 

from 35% 

to 34% 

 

Up from 

64% to 

65% 

Page 3177



Director's Key Messages 
 

14 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

In our governance activities, responding to 

changes in legislation and adapting how council 

business is undertaken have been key challenges 

that have been overcome.  

I was delighted to welcome the Public Protection 

portfolio of services into the directorate in 

November 2020. Comprising our Community 

Safety and our Registration, Celebratory and 

Coroners services, colleagues in these areas have 

adapted well to the impacts of the pandemic and 

will continue to develop and improve under longer 

term leadership arrangements seconded from 

Lincolnshire Police.  

In terms of critical activities: 

Debtors - remains an amber risk due to high 

levels of debt held related to adult services. Work 

continues with Serco to refine debt management 

practices.  

Grant Income and Claims - high levels of grant 

received, including to support the response to the 

pandemic, places significant burden on the finance 

team.  

Capital Programme - new processes have been 

introduced during 2020/21 including the officer 

Capital Review Group and the amber scoring 

reflects the bedding in time of these activities.  

Accountancy Closedown - the team met the 

revised closedown deadline of 30/06/2020 for the 

2019/20 accounts, however the scoring reflects 

the delay in the issuing of the final accounts.  

Health and Safety - the pandemic has had a 

marked impact on the small team supporting H&S 

in its ability to complete pre-programmed 

corporate work such as audits.  

Conduct Investigations - an issue of lack of 

capacity, work is ongoing to rectify between the 

Audit and HR teams.  

Internal Audit - again capacity has been an issue 

which has been reported to the committee on prior 

occasions. Work continues to rectify and the 

service continues to receive strong positive 

feedback on its work in the council and with 

partners.  

FOI and SARS – Covid-19 has impacted on 

service response times however the introduction of 

a new case management system will continue to 

support improvement to the service.  

System Coordination Centre - a start-up team 

within Business Support to provide support to the 

County Emergency Centre for local test and trace 

activities.  

Legal Childcare Activity and Resourcing - 

despite recent success in recruitment, remains a 

risk due to historic retention issues, use of locums 

and final hearing backlogs. 

Records Management - long term project paused 

due to Covid-19 and inability to be on site.   

Human Resources Activity - activities of the 

team still settling down following the 2019 

restructure. Some activity paused due to the 

pandemic response. A new Assistant Director is in 

post bringing new ideas and leadership to the 

Council’s HR activities. 

Safer Together - embedding this project, a joint 

venture between the Council, Police and Police 

and Crime Commissioner. 

Community Safety - a joint strategic needs 

assessment will be undertaken in 2021 to agree 

new priorities for the Safer Lincolnshire 

Partnership. New legislation changes to Domestic 

Abuse will also see changes to service delivery.  

Coroners - an area of significant change, a 

transformation project is underway, the coronial 

area is under discussion including a potential 

merger with the northern Lincolnshire area, and as 

a result, a temporary Coroner is in post. Previous 

budgetary challenges are addressed in the draft 

2021/22 budget.  

In terms of red risks: 

Pension Fund Investments - a significant 

unknown impact on the global economy of Covid-

Page 3278



Director's Key Messages 
 

15 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

19, and more locally Brexit, on our investment 

portfolio.  

Hard Copy Records - linked to the records 

management narrative above, slow progress due 

to Covid-19 has heightened this risk.  

Future Demand on Legal - related to the 

childcare narrative, focussed work with HR on 

hard to recruit posts continues to mitigate this risk.  

Apprenticeships - we are currently under the 

required run rate for the levy, which means unused 

funding is now being handed back to Government. 

The HR team continue to refine the approach to 

maximising its use as much as is possible.  

Other Brexit Impacts - predominantly related to 

legislation changes and their impact on the 

Trading Standards service during 2021. 

 

 

  

Page 3379



Director's Key Messages 
 

16 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

Commercial 

 

Critical Activities 
Red Amber 
ICT Asset 
management 
software 

Procurement 

ICT Network 
access controls 

Property Contract 
Management 

ICT PSN 
Compliance 

ICT Governance 

ICT Payment 
card industry 
data security 
standard 

ICT Physical and 
Environmental Security 

 Privileged Accounts/User and 
Admin separation of data 

 Patch Management 

 

Red Risks 

No red risks 

 

The Commercial Directorate is made up of the 

following service areas:  

 IMT 

 Property 

 Commissioning/Commercial 

 Transformation and Performance  
 

Despite most of these services not being front line, 

the impact of Covid 19 and national restrictions, 

including those affecting the workplace, have been 

significant on this Directorate. 

Some examples of this include the need to deliver 

a step change in IMT, to provide modern, reliable 

hardware and software to support a workforce that 

became agile almost overnight. This included 

successful remote working for over 4,000 staff at 

any one time and Teams meetings for the full 

range of formal and informal meetings including 

Members and Committees.  

The Property Service has also had to respond very 

quickly to fast moving legislation and guidance 

introduced by central government with the aim of 

providing managed workspaces that were Covid 

safe, whilst still maintaining progress on a wide 

range of important programmes and projects. They 

have also been instrumental in the development of 

Smarter Working which aims to increase our 

productivity and deliver savings through enabling, 

along with IMT, new and more flexible ways of 

working in the future. 

The Commissioning / Commercial Team have 

supported Adult Services and Care Home 

providers through unprecedented times, including 

PPE provision, and working with health colleagues 

to support health and care systems that were 

faced with huge pressures. Other parts of the 

service have led the provision of extending 

contracts to ensure LCC service continuity, despite 

Covid impacts on individuals, businesses and 

markets. 

 

Transformation and Performance have worked 

very flexibly to allocate skilled resources to our 

changing priorities.  These have included 

supporting the development of mass vaccination 

sites in the County, providing information for 

internal decision making and for government 

returns and continuing to work on our corporate 

priority projects including Business World 

Commercial 

Overall Assurance 
Direction of travel 

 
 

R G A 

Down 

from 10% 

to 5%  

Down from 

44% to 34% 
Up from 

46% to 

61% 

Page 3480



Director's Key Messages 
 

17 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

replacement, the Serco contract and Smarter 

Working.  

Despite the huge pressure and new demands the 

directorate has responded effectively, and where 

resources allowed, has maintained progress on a 

range of business as usual and project / 

development activity.  It continues to support and 

challenge how we work and deliver services that 

support the changes required to become 'One 

Council'. 

Specific actions were identified to address the 

amber and red indicators highlighted last year and 

most of these have been implemented and 

delivered effectively resulting in a significant 

improvement for the Commercial Directorate.  

Across the whole directorate in 2020/21, 75% of 

critical activities are considered to be green, with 

16% amber and 9% classified as red. 

This is a significant improvement over last year as 

the table below demonstrates: 

            19/20           20/21           Movement 

R 11%  9%  -2% 

A 34%  16%  -18% 

G 55%  75%  +20% 

There are 4 critical activities that are red (down 

from 6 last year) and all of these are within the IMT 

service. The first relates to the age and lack of 

investment/management of some software 

packages operating in the Council. Progress has 

been made, by fixing the basics, to either remove 

old software or upgrade it.  Further centralisation 

of IMT is helping deliver increased consistency 

where effective software management standards 

are met. 

The second red designation refers to the systems 

and processes relating to starters, movers and 

leavers and this will be addressed by the new 

corporately agreed processes that are being 

developed and will be implemented as part 

of Business World.   

 

The next red category relates to Public Service 

Network compliance. This overlaps with the first 

red category regarding old, unsupported software. 

Progress has been made, but will not be 

successfully completed until all non-compliant 

applications are removed and replaced where 

essential to do so.   

Finally improvements have been made to meet the 

current payment standards, with upgrades and 

new systems being brought in, but some older 

systems remain that are unable to comply with the 

current standards. Work is ongoing to address 

this, but this will result in some systems either 

being switched off or replaced, with associated 

costs and service impacts.       

There are 22 Critical Activities, Projects and Risks 

within the Commercial Directorate that are 

classified as amber. Of these, 6 relate to IMT, 6 

relates to Commissioning/Commercial, 5 relates to 

Property, and 5 relate to Transformation and 

Performance. 

Most of the IMT amber ratings relate to 

governance and business as usual activity. This 

has improved with many being addressed and this 

trend will continue. There remains a focus and 

some concern regarding IT security and the 

ongoing and developing risk of cyber attack, 

especially as we work in a more agile way. 

Effective safeguards are in place and numerous 

illegal / inappropriate attempts to access our 

networks and data are thwarted by our effective 

controls and management on a daily basis.  

Commissioning / Commercial accounts for 6 of the 

amber ratings with a focus on some concerns 

relating to the market provision, and sufficient 

skilled resources in specific areas, especially the 

care sector. Work is ongoing to work as One 

Council to help plug internal resourcing gaps and 

work continues with the market to help shape, 

develop and encourage sectors. 

 

The 5 amber classifications to the Property 

Service are linked to how we can more effectively 

contract manage large programmes; develop the 

right approach for office accommodation to meet 

Page 3581



Director's Key Messages 
 

18 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

the needs of our Smarter Working programme and 

managing the impact of Brexit and the agricultural 

bill on the County Estate. 

The 5 amber classifications in Transformation and 

Performance mainly relate to development and 

implementation of the new Business World System 

to ensure it delivers the right outcomes for the 

Council and is managed to deliver these within 

agreed timescales and budget, allowing for the 

complexity of the system, existing data integrity 

and the implications of Covid.  

There remain a range of challenging activities that 

will have a retained focus to continue to address 

them effectively, but despite the change of focus 

and priority brought about by Covid, by 

successfully implementing agreed actions there 

has been significant improvement in the out turn 

and the ongoing identified actions will continue this 

trend. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 3682



Director's Key Messages 
 

19 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

Place

 

 

Critical Activities 
Red Amber 
None Deliver Business Support through the 

Business Lincolnshire Growth Hub 

 Provide high quality business sites and 
premises 

 Raise skill levels by Commissioning 
and influencing learning programmes 

 Improve visitor experiences of the 
County promotion and development of 
the tourism sector 

 Coordinate the next steps of Planning 
for Growth so that all partners 
contribute to Lincolnshire's growth 

 Lead funding strategies which link to 
the Council's priorities 

 Implement a One Council approach to 
developer contribution 

 Archives 

 Heritage 

 Operational Flood Management 

 Waste Management (operational) 

 School and College Transport 

 Social Care Transport (children and 
adults) 

 Lincolnshire Public Transport Network 
(including Community Transport) 

 Transport Connect Limited (Teckal 

Company) 

 NM - Civil Parking Enforcement 

 Highways 2020 

 Technical Services Partnership 
(Including Highways 2020 contract with 
WSP) 

 

Red Risks 

No red risks  
 

The risk assurance map for the Place Directorate 

continues to demonstrate the variety and scale of 

activity undertaken across the Directorate.  As 

across all other Council services the 

consequences of managing the impact of Covid 19 

on existing activity and projects should not be 

under-estimated.  Against this backdrop the high 

level of assurance that is in place should be noted 

and welcomed with the overall assurance position 

predominantly amber and green 

The assurance mapping highlights the direct 

impact that much of the service activity has on the 

people of Lincolnshire.  This correlates with the 

customer facing content of the Council Corporate 

Plan whether that is residents, businesses or 

visitors to the County.  This includes: 

• Supporting businesses through the Business 

Lincolnshire growth hub and through the work of 

the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise 

Partnership (GL LEP) to adapt to the implications 

of Covid, access available grant support and 

starting to plan for the long term recovery from 

Covid; 

 

• Maintaining front line service delivery in relation 

to waste management including partnership 

working with Districts to ensure effective waste 

collection and disposal whilst operating effective 

booking systems to maintain the flow of waste 

through the Household Waste Recycling Centres; 

• Mobilising new highways contracts for the 

delivery of core service activity in relation to 

maintenance of the highway network and 

developing new working arrangements with 

Overall Assurance 
Direction of travel 

 
 R G A 

Static at 

0%  

Down 

from 57% 

to 56% 

Up from 

43% to 

44% 

Page 3783



Director's Key Messages 
 

20 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

Balfour Beatty Living Places and Colas; 

 

• Providing on-going access to visitor attractions 

and library services against a backdrop of 

changing restrictions on when facilities could be 

open. 

The importance of partnership working is 

highlighted: 

• at a strategic level in relation to the effective 

operation of formal partnerships in relation to 

water management, waste management, 

environmental management; 

• the effective management of contractual 

relationships in waste and highways including the 

effective monitoring of performance and use of 

contractual controls to mitigate concerns over 

performance; 

• through the activities in place to create long term 

growth and investment opportunities through 

collaborative working with the District Councils as 

Local Planning Authorities and the work of Team 

Lincolnshire members to promote the County; 

• through the resolution of the GL LEP boundary 

issues and the effective work progressed to 

enhance the Greater Lincolnshire offer. 

Many services delivered are 'universal' services 

and this creates a high level of 'customer' demand 

and expectation.   With the increased emphasis in 

the Corporate Plan on the 'customer' further 

improvements have been made to address 

customer needs across a range of services 

including: 

• management of the business premises to the 

benefit of tenants and creating an offer that has 

remained attractive in spite of the impacts of 

Covid; 

• maintenance of effective home to school 

transport and other community transport provision 

during the worst periods of Covid impact; 

• on-going improvements in the delivery of the 

local highways management function with 

increased emphasis on the positive use of 

Performance Indicators to drive improved 

performance. 

Contract management remains a key area of focus 

for improvement across the Directorate with the 

development of key relationships critical in 

achieving the best return from the contracts in 

place whether these be for single one off service 

provision, single projects or long-term strategic 

relationships central to our service delivery.  

Where necessary the contract mechanisms are 

used to achieve the best possible results for 

Lincolnshire with more robust contract 

management measures implemented as required 

including the effective use of change controls and 

early warning notices.   

Risks and pressures remain in certain areas where 

the impact of Covid has impacted on revenue 

levels and the viability of the service including civil 

parking enforcement, heritage service, transport 

costs and Public Rights Of Way maintenance.  In 

the immediate future uncertainties arising from 

short-term Government spending review, on-going 

uncertainty about the nature of post European 

funding and the competitive nature of many 

funding pots available from Government makes it 

difficult to plan for the long-term although 

Lincolnshire generally continues to be successful 

in securing its share of the monies available 

including funding managed through the GL LEP 

and the DfT funding announced for the North 

Hykeham Relief Road. 

The DfT award of programme entry for the NHRR 

scheme is also testimony to the confidence in 

Lincolnshire's ability to deliver major capital 

schemes.  It was greatly satisfying and rewarding 

for all those involved to open the Lincoln Eastern 

bypass in December 2020.  This was a major 

project a long time in the development and 

delivery including a variety of unforeseen and 

challenging events impacting on the delivery.  The 

end result is considered to be testimony to the 

internal systems in place to re-act to the 

unforeseen and although the final costs exceed 

original budget estimates there will be significant 

lessons learnt to inform future major project 

delivery across all services.  Our system and 

Page 3884



Director's Key Messages 
 

21 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

processes continually evolve to address lessons 

learnt so we can ensure project outcomes are 

delivered.  On-going and emerging risks generally 

reflect the areas of uncertainty and areas over 

which we have less control. These will all be kept 

under review so that the risks don't cause 

significant impact and where possible are 

integrated effectively. 

I am confident that the correct actions are being 

taken to address these in an effective, efficient and 

timely manner and the number of critical activities 

in these categories will reduce in the Place 

Directorate during 2021.  

Page 3985



Director's Key Messages 
 

22 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

Fire, Rescue & Business 

Continuity 

 

 

Critical Activities 
Red Amber 
None Protection 

 Response 

 Emergency response 

 Duties relating to the Civil 
Contingencies Act and other 
hazard related legislation 

 

Red Risks 

Risk Identified Risk 

Rating 

Risk 

Assurance 

RDS Sustainability R R 

 

During 2020/21 this Directorate was reviewed and 

changed its portfolio to include only Fire and 

Business Continuity.  Public Protection, Registrars 

and Coroners moved under Resources Directorate 

in November: 

• Fire and Rescue 

• Emergency Planning  

• The Coroner Service 

• Birth, Deaths and Marriage Registrations 

• Public Protection – incorporating the Safer 

Communities Partnership between Police and 

Lincolnshire County Council 

The scope of the Directorate is wide but focuses 

on protecting people who may be or may become 

vulnerable from: 

• Fire and emergencies 

• Abuse 

• Crime or criminal acts 

• Themselves or their circumstances 

During this year the focus of the Directorate has 

been on responding to the COVID crisis.  Within 

Public Protection area there has been a strong link 

within the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) to support 

vulnerable persons and have also taken a lead on 

developing and delivering plans to mitigate excess 

deaths within the County. 

For all areas there has been a significant test to 

existing continuity plans and a continual review of 

these plans to meet the emerging needs of long 

term disruption to business as usual.  Robust and 

detailed Risk Assessments have been developed 

to enable new ways of working and clear 

understanding of what areas have been prioritised 

to enable appropriate support to our communities 

and keeping our own staff safe. 

There has been exercising and audit completed 

within Emergency Planning in relation to how it 

has supported and facilitated the LRF which has 

given assurance that this is operating well, albeit a 

risk of being able to maintain this level of activity 

with concurrent emergencies is a known risk in 

terms of staffing resilience.  The uncertainty of 

BREXIT impact is still a risk, but this is being 

mitigated as much as possible through LRF 

structure  

Overall Assurance 
Direction of travel 

 
 R G A 

Down 

from 4% 

to 3%  

Up from 

34% to 

43% 

Down 

from 62% 

to 54% 

Page 4086



Director's Key Messages 
 

23 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

Fire has had an independent inspection through 

Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and 

Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) in how it has 

responded to COVID and gave good assurance 

that it supported the communities well.  A risk has 

been highlighted relating to reduced Fire 

Protection activities to high risk premises which is 

being addressed through the dedicated Fire 

Protection Team. 

Our RED risks are limited in number – This relates 

to support for our On Call model that continues to 

be a challenge in terms of retention of personnel 

and being able to attract personnel that can cover 

key times of the day.  Although we have a good 

‘spine’ of Wholetime stations that guarantee a 

level of response across the County, we are still 

reliant on our On Call stations to be available to 

meet the risks identified within our Integrated Risk 

Management Plan (IRMP) 

Another key risk is the increasing difficulty in 

recruiting and developing staff – this is primarily at 

middle manager levels such as Station Manager 

but also in key specialist areas such as Fire 

Protection. Fire Protection is a key area that is 

being focused on post Grenfell Tower which has 

resulted in clearer, but more robust standards of 

inspection regimes being implemented nationally.  

This will require more investment in development 

and recruiting of specialist skills from an already 

‘lean’ sector nationally. 

Overall Amber rated risks are around: 

• HMICFRS Inspection for Spring 2021.  

Preparation is underway to ensure Fire is able to 

evidence against the national criteria. 

• Difficulties or delays in delivery of key projects 

• Building sustainable delivery and staffing models 

and budgets 

• Recruitment - getting the right skills & 

maintaining these for our staff, often for specialist 

posts but includes on call firefighters 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 4187



Director's Key Messages 
 

24 

Combined Assurance Status Report  

Overall Assurance 
Direction of travel 

 
 

R G A 

Static at   

0% 

Down 

from 80% 

to 73% 

Up from 

20% to 

27% 

Corporate 

 

Critical Activities 
Red Amber 
None Media Management 

 Internal Communications 

 Engagement 

 Digital Engagement 

 Policy Development 

 

Red Risks 

No red risks 

 

The directorate has responsibility for corporate 

communications, engagement, digital and policy 

functions. It drives forward the ambitions of the 

corporate plan to embed the 'One Council' 

approach to the way we deliver services and 

communicate with residents, businesses, key 

partners and stakeholders. The directorate will 

also develop and review policies, procedures 

and processes to ensure that the Council can 

achieve its objectives and effectively manage 

future needs.  

We have been able to continue to deliver our 

services despite the impact of Covid-19. 

Through the effective use of digital technologies, 

we've maintained strong relationships with key 

partners as well as being able to work closely 

with media outlets. We have been able to 

continue to consult and engage with our 

residents and representative groups. The 

pandemic has seen increased pressures on 

both internal and external communications but 

this has been effectively managed within 

existing resources. 

Media Management 

Regular liaison takes place with senior 

management and members to anticipate and 

proactively manage communications with media. 

It is highlighted that LCC cannot control the 

information that is published by the media. 

Internal communications 

Developments around the replacement intranet 

have seen some delay which introduces risk to 

internal communication. We also have a single 

officer responsible for internal communications 

and there is a need to consider how we can 

become more resilient in this area. 

Engagement 

The restructuring of the team is now complete 

and the team is focussed on corporate priorities. 

A community strategy is under development 

which will further refine the work and approach 

of the team. Engagement activities have been 

completed electronically as no face-to-face 

working has been possible. 

Digital Engagement 

The website platform has been moved to JADU 

and a board is in place to oversee further 

development activities. Some delays have been 

experienced with regards to the development of 

the new intranet solution. This has limited the 

level of internal digital engagement that can be 

achieved. 

Page 4288



Director's Key Messages 
 

25 

Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21 

Web Platform Development and Channel 

Shift 

Work has continued to develop the website and 

to move other sites away from legacy 

technologies. Some delays have been 

experienced with the intranet solution and plans 

are being monitored through regular 

management reviews. 

Implementation of Engagement Software 

The service is currently limited to the use of the 

SNAP survey software. This technology is now 

coming towards the end of its life. The 

community strategy will recommend a review of 

supporting technologies to better enable 

engagement activities and reporting to be 

completed. 

Warn and Inform Partnership 

Whilst the partnership is operating effectively in 

response to the Covid-19 pandemic, there is a 

lack of a permanent Chair for warn and inform. 

This sees an increased level of risk to Warn and 

Inform. 

Page 4389



This page is intentionally left blank

90



 

 

 

Governance and Audit 
Committee 
29 September 2021 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 
  Cabinet Member for Finance and 

Resources 

           

 

Counter Fraud Annual Report 2020-21 

One of the key areas for Governance and Audit Committee, as part of its terms of reference, is to 
monitor and review the counter fraud arrangements in place and the activities that are being 
undertaken to mitigate those risks.   

 

Report Author 

Tracey Elliott, Governance & Risk Officer 

 
 01476 406038 

  t.elliott@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

A High Performing Council Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 13 September 2021 

Approved by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 13 September 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Resources  

21 September 2021 

 

Recommendation to the decision maker 

1. The Governance and Audit Committee is asked to approve the contents of this 
report including the proposed workplan for 2021-22. 

91

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 In accordance with the terms of reference of the Committee it is a requirement to produce 

an annual report on the counter fraud arrangements in place and the activities undertaken.  

Counter fraud is fundamental to the Council’s achievement of its strategic objectives.  The 

report being presented covers the financial year 2020-21 and details the various aspects 

of work delivered during the course of the year.  

2 Summary of position 

2.1 The Council is committed to the highest standards of quality, probity, openness and 

accountability. As part of the Committee’s terms of reference, counter fraud is one of the 

key areas of focus being an essential element of delivering good governance. In order to 

develop and promote greater awareness, and in line with best practice, a review of the 

Council’s counter fraud arrangements has been undertaken, culminating in this Annual 

Report for 2020-21. This report sets out the key outcomes from the counter fraud work 

delivered during the year relating to both welfare/benefit fraud and non-welfare/benefit 

fraud.  

2.2 Like any organisation South Kesteven District Council is inherently vulnerable to the risk of 

fraud and corruption and, with reducing Government funding and the current economic 

position, it is vital that robust arrangements for the prevention and detection of fraud are 

maintained, and best use of information and knowledge is made in order to ensure 

effective fraud prevention procedures are in place. 

3 Whistleblowing  

3.1 Assurance Lincolnshire manages the Confidential Reporting Line on behalf of the 

Lincolnshire Counter Fraud Partnership and acts as a central point of contact.  An analysis 

of district related referrals made to the Reporting Line during 2020-21 identified that 63 

referrals were received (80 in 2019-20).  Of the 63 district referrals received by Assurance 

Lincolnshire, 31 (49%) were for South Kesteven District Council.  This reflects the pattern 

in previous years and there is no obvious explanation why South Kesteven has the highest 

number.  Following discussion with partners it may be that their service users report 

concerns via other means, but whistleblowers within South Kesteven wish to remain 

anonymous and therefore choose not to contact via the appropriate mechanism eg 

registering a complaint. 

3.2 Referrals by Authority: 

Authority Number 

Boston 3 

City of Lincoln 20 

East Lindsey 1 

North Kesteven 3 

South Holland 1 

South Kesteven 31 

West Lindsey 4 

Total 63 

 

92



 

 
 

3.3 The main type of district referrals in 2020-21 relate to council tax and housing tenancy. 

3.4 In addition to the 31 whistleblowing allegations to the Reporting Line, the Council received 

three allegations that were reported direct – these were in relation to staff conduct.  All 34 

whistleblowing allegations have been investigated and action taken where appropriate.   

3.5 Summary of whistleblowing allegations received by South Kesteven 2020-21: 

 

 

 

3.6 Occasionally the Council receives whistleblowing allegations from either staff (usually 

anonymous), or from members of the public, in respect of staff.  Of the six allegations 

reported above, five were investigated outside of the Whistleblowing Policy under the 

relevant HR policy or procedure and one, detailed below, was investigated in accordance 

with the Council’s Fraud Response Plan.   

3.7 The whistleblowing that was investigated in accordance with the Fraud Response Plan 

was an allegation of theft.  This was received via the Whistleblowing Hotline from a 

member of the public.  The initial investigation identified that there would be basis for 

further investigation, and subsequently this was referred to an investigating officer external 

to the Council.  The investigating officer found that there was enough evidence that 

supported the allegations as presented by the whistleblower.   The matter was referred to 

the Police and their file is currently with the Crown Prosecution Service.  The Council is 

unable to comment further on the police investigation, and the financial value of the case, 

until the criminal case has concluded.  Once the criminal case has concluded Governance 

and Audit Committee will receive a report of the theft at a future meeting. 

4 Lincolnshire Counter Fraud Partnership 

4.1 The Partnership continues to work with partners to protect the Public Purse within 

Lincolnshire.  The Partnership, which includes all councils within Lincolnshire, works to 

improve fraud resilience across Lincolnshire by co-ordinating targeted fraud awareness 

campaigns; sharing fraud intelligence, best practice and expertise; delivering savings and 

making effective use of resources.   

93



 

 
 

4.2 Extensive and varied communication channels have been used to promote fraud 

awareness across a wide audience and increased whistleblowing traffic is evidence that 

this is working well. 

4.3 The Council continues to actively contribute to the work of the Partnership.  The 

Partnership’s key outcomes in 2020-21 include: 

− Raising fraud awareness by maintaining and promoting fraud awareness e-learning 
and sharing pro-active fraud awareness campaigns  

− Helping partners to minimise Covid-19 Business Grant fraud by sharing fraud 
intelligence, alerts and best practice throughout the pandemic  

− Providing and managing the Confidential Reporting Line 

− Managing local and national intelligence sharing about emerging risks and threats. 
This enabled swift responses to scams and potential frauds  

− Supporting District Council arrangements to generate revenue from Council Tax 
fraud and error: 

o The Single Person Discount review has been delayed due to the pandemic, but 
work has been ongoing during 2020/21 to ensure that it can take place between 
April and October 2021.  It is estimated to produce gross revenue of £983k with 
a net revenue split estimated of £704k (LCC): £122k (Police) and £113k 
(districts). 

5 Fraud elearning 

5.1 Council officers were asked to complete fraud elearning during Autumn 2019 and will be 

asked to undertake training again within 2021-22.  This training is an integral element of 

the corporate training programme.  Members, as part of their training programme, will also 

be asked to undertake the fraud elearning.  The Lincolnshire Counter Fraud Partnership 

are developing a bespoke elearning module and this is scheduled to be rolled out from 

December 2021. 

6 National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 

6.1 Since 1996 the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) every two years (every year for Council Tax 

Single Person Discount) undertake a compulsory national data exercise.  The NFI data is 

provided by some 1,300 participating organisations from across both public and private 

sectors including The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), Home Office, 

Companies House and many others.  It consists of 23 different data sources containing 

over a third of a billion records.  These include police authorities, local probation boards, 

fire and rescue authorities as well as local councils. 

6.2 It is a tool that is helpful in assisting local authorities to identify potential fraud in areas 

such as council tax, housing benefit, pensions, payroll, creditors and housing tenancy and 

since 1996 the programme has helped identify over £1 billion in fraud or error.  

6.3 The data matches from the main exercise were released in January 2021 and the matches 

from the Council Tax Single Person Discount (SPD) matches were released in December 

2020.  However, due to the impact of Covid and the inevitable pressure put on available 

resources, the investigation of the matches has not been undertaken – the SPD matches 

will not be investigated due to the Council participating in alternative exercises as referred 

to under point 8. 

94



 

 
 

 

7 Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support Fund 

7.1 Fraud cases are identified in numerous different ways with referrals coming from various 

sources.  A primary channel is through joint working with the Department of Work and 

Pensions (DWP).  The Council is currently undertaking joint working arrangements on 

several cases where there has been an allegation of fraud against a claimant within the 

district that is claiming Housing Benefit and/or Council Tax Discount.  Fraud cases can 

also be referred from other departments within the Council.  This could include, but is not 

limited to, the Income Recovery Team, Visiting Officers or Housing Officers.  It is also 

possible for referrals to come from other authorities.  Whistleblowing from members of the 

public also plays a crucial part in combatting fraud within the Housing Benefit system.  

Referrals can be made online, via email and via the phone.   

7.2 Summary of Housing Benefit Overpayments for 2020-21 

Number of invoices raised  Amount of debt Amount recovered 

386 £329,937 £310,687 

 

8 Single Person Discount (SPD) 

8.1 For Council tax purposes residents can apply for Single Person Discount (SPD) should 

they be the sole occupier of a property.  Residents who wish to apply for SPD are asked to 

complete a declaration confirming that they are the only adult resident in the property and 

that they are eligible to claim the discount.  

8.2 The Council’s primary approach for checking SPD entitlement is to participate biennially in 

a county wide counter fraud review alongside all Lincolnshire authorities.  The process for 

this includes taking a data extract from the Council Tax records of accounts in receipt of 

SPD.  This data is then put through a screening process to identify accounts which may be 

claiming SPD, where they are not entitled to, highlighting accounts where contact is 

needed.  The next review was due to start in April 2020 but unfortunately, due to the 

impact of Coronavirus, it was delayed and started in April 2021 with a deadline for 

completion by 31 August 2021.  The review is on track and expected to see a reduction in 

SPD of around £157,243 as a result of 444 SPD removals.  In addition, an estimated 

£16,520 has been raised as a result of 236 penalties being issued due to the ratepayer not 

responding to the review. 

8.3 Partnership resource is progressing the business case proposals for alternative 

approaches to the current bi-annual SPD bulk review.  This is driven by opportunity for 

further reductions in the levels of Council Tax revenue, lost to fraud or error, when SPDs 

are incorrectly granted or not cancelled following a change in household circumstances.  

This proposed new approach was placed on hold due to the impact of Coronavirus – the 

tender was due to go out Summer 2020 but was deferred to Summer 2021 with a view to 

procure a service provider for a May 2022 start date.  Moving to a continuous rolling 

review is expected to increase revenue collection by reducing the time between loss of 

entitlement to SPD and detection date of the fraud or error, ensuring incorrect SPDs are 

removed sooner, and this will be strongly recommended. 

8.4 Under current arrangements, and with a rolling review, intelligence and experience of 

other local authorities, shows that some of the SPD removals will continue to be paid, or 

95



 

 
 

be subsequently re-instated, following contact from claimants where it was shown they 

had deliberately lied, upon review, in order to maintain their discount.   

8.5 In addition to the proposed continuous review, the business proposal will include 

cost/benefit analysis of further options to use a fraud referrals service to identify historic 

cases for revenue collection and options to pursue sanctions, including prosecution.  Use 

of such a fraud referrals service provides all the information needed to demonstrate strong 

grounds to challenge those claimants who appear to have deliberately lied to maintain 

their discount or exemption.  Local Authority information it holds about claimants is cross-

matched with other data sources – highlighting anomalies (such as evidence of other 

adults living at the property) and pinpointing cases to be investigated further.  Whilst this 

could increase collection rates, and sanctions would act as a future fraud deterrent, 

pursuing such cases does have the potential to cause reputational damage and 

prosecution success is not guaranteed. 

9 Test and Trace Support Payments 

9.1 Since 28 September 2020, the Test and Trace Support Payment scheme has supported 

people on low income who are unable to work from home and will lose income if they are 

required to self-isolate because of COVID-19. 

9.2 Eligible individuals receive a £500 payment.  This is to help ensure people who have 

tested positive for COVID-19 and their close contacts self-isolate for the required period, 

and to encourage individuals who have symptoms to get tested.  This is important to help 

stop the transmission of COVID-19 and avoid further economic societal restrictions.  The 

scheme ends on 30 September 2021. 

9.3 South Kesteven District Council has received total funding of £320,100.  This is broken 

down as follows: 

− £133,000 for mandatory scheme payments of £500 

− £92,500 for discretionary scheme payments of £500 

− £94,600 for administration of the scheme 

9.4 The Council is responsible for post-payment checks and conducts a monthly spot check 

on 10% of payments made to identify whether a recipient continues to receive full pay 

during their self-isolation period. 

9.5 The Council has not yet identified anyone that has continued to receive full pay while self-

isolating but, if it did, the Council would have the right to recoup the money.  Any money 

that is recovered would be put towards the cost of running the scheme.  Local Authorities 

are not liable for any irrecoverable costs due to fraud. 

9.6 The Council has awarded £390,500 in self-isolation payments.  This is broken down into 

£269,500 for the mandatory scheme and £121,000 for the discretionary scheme. 

10 Business Rates Relief – Expanded Retail Discount (Covid support) 

10.1 The government announced in the budget on 29 October 2018 that it would provide a 

Business Rates Retail Discount to apply in years 2019/20 and 2020/21.   

10.2 In response to the Coronavirus pandemic, in the Budget on 11 March 2020, the 

government announced that it would increase the discount to 100% and extend it to 

include the leisure and hospitality sectors.  Following the announcement on 23 March 

96



 

 
 

2020 of further measures to limit the spread of coronavirus, the government confirmed that 

some of the exclusions for this relief had been removed, so that retail, leisure and 

hospitality properties that had to close as a result of the restriction measure would be 

eligible for Expanded Retail Discount (ERD). 

10.3 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) issued eligibility 

criteria (with a number of revisions) for the Council to use their discretionary relief powers 

under Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 to grant the relief.  Central 

government will fully reimburse the Council for the local share of the discretionary relief 

(using a grant under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003). 

10.4 The Council determined each individual case, having regard to the guidance which 

provided a list of properties that would benefit from the relief.  These properties were 

identified by description of use, which was allocated by the Valuation Office Agency, using 

the Business Rates Revenues software system.  Where it was clear an automatic award 

could be made, this was undertaken.   

10.5 The list provided by MHCLG was not intended to be exhaustive but a guide for local 

authorities as to the types of uses the government considered for this purpose to be 

eligible.  As a result, those businesses where their description did not fall into the ‘’benefit 

from relief category’’ individual case decisions were undertaken and where there was a 

clear requirement to change the description, a request was made to the Valuation Office 

Agency. 

10.6 Outturn data on the actual total cost for providing the relief was provided on a monthly 

basis.   

10.7 Whilst the discount was not subject to State Aid, the award of ERD was used to form the 

eligibility criteria for one of the original grants – the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant 

(RHLG). 

10.8 The Council has awarded £20,886,310 in additional business rates relief during 2020/21 in 

support of businesses affected by the pandemic 

11 Counter Fraud Action Plan 2021-22 

Action By when Owner 

1) Counter Fraud Strategy 

Review of the Counter Fraud Strategy including the 
Whistleblowing Policy and the Anti Money Laundering 
Policy and Guidance 

December 
2021 

Governance & 
Risk Officer 

2) Fraud Awareness including elearning 

Continue to raise awareness amongst staff, 
stakeholders and partners about the risk of fraud in all 
areas of the Council’s business 

The Partnership is working on its own fraud learning 
module which will be rolled out across the districts  

December 
2021 

Governance & 
Risk Officer 

97



 

 
 

3) National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 

Continuing the commitment to the NFI data matching 
exercises 

January 
2022 

onwards 

Governance & 
Risk Officer 

Heads of 
Service 

4) Lincolnshire Counter Fraud Partnership 

Contributing to the work of the Partnership by 
supporting the delivery of their action plan including 
keeping abreast of national developments in counter 
fraud work  

2021-22 

Governance & 
Risk Officer 

Revenues & 
Benefits 
Manager 

5) Housing Benefit Investigations 

Continue to support DWP Housing Benefit 
investigations 

Ongoing 
Revenues & 

Benefits 
Manager 

 

12 Consultation and Feedback Received, including Overview and Scrutiny 

12.1 None 

13 Reasons for the Recommendation 

13.1 Governance and Audit Committee, as part of its terms of reference; 11.5.4(iv) To approve 

the Counter Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Framework, including Whistleblowing Policy 

and Anti-Money Laundering Policy, should monitor and review the counter fraud 

arrangements currently in place and the activities that are being undertaken to mitigate 

those risks. 

14 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

14.1 None. 

15 Financial Implications  

15.1 These are contained within the report where appropriate. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

16 Legal and Governance Implications  

16.1 The report, including the action plan for 2021-22, are to be welcomed from a governance 

and legal perspective, as they represent effective ways of identifying and dealing with 

counter fraud.  Members should note the performance and scrutinise any elements to 

assist the role of the Governance and Audit Committee. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

17 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

17.1 None. 

18 Risk and Mitigation 

18.1 None. 

98



 

 
 

19 Community Safety Implications  

19.1 None. 

20 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

20.1 The recommendation will have a neutral effect of the Council’s declaration of a climate 

emergency. 

21 Other Implications (where significant)  

21.1 None. 

 

 

99



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Governance and Audit 
Committee 
29 September 2021 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 

Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources 

   

         
  

 

Strategic Risk Register    

One of the key areas for Governance and Audit Committee, as part of its terms of reference, is to 
monitor and review the risk management arrangements in place and the activities that are being 
undertaken to mitigate those risks.  In accordance with Governance and Audit Committee’s 
workplan the Strategic Risk Register will be presented to Committee twice a year. 

Report Author 

Tracey Elliott, Governance & Risk Officer 

 
 01476 406038 

  t.elliott@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

A High Performing Council Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance  10 September 2021 

Approved by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 10 September 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Resources 

21 September 2021 

 

Recommendation to the decision maker 

1. Governance and Audit Committee is asked to note the contents of this report and 
review and approve the updated Strategic Risk Register attached at Appendix A. 

 

101

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 At the 4 February 2021 meeting of Governance and Audit Committee, Members were 

informed that there was an ongoing review of the Strategic Risk Register by Corporate 

Management Team (CMT).   

1.2 CMT colleagues have reviewed the strategic risks including the actions.  Actions have 

been assigned to owners and implementation dates have been agreed.   

1.3 The format of the Register consists of the following: 

• Risk Title and Description – brief description of risk 

• Effects of Risk Realisation – what would occur should the risk materialise 

• Current Circumstances – brief summary of the present situation 

• Risk Control – summary of all the risk controls that are currently in place 

• Residual Risk Score – assessment of risk after risk controls considered 

• Action Required – actions to be undertaken and implementation dates   

1.4 The updated Register is attached at Appendix A.   

1.5 The Register is intended to be a dynamic and responsive document and is reviewed to 

reflect the current and changing environment of the Council from both internal and 

external influences.  The risk controls are those currently in place across the respective 

risk area and the ‘action required’ column captures the emerging and developing actions 

to further strengthen and mitigate the risk. 

1.6 Following approval of the draft Strategic Risk Register the risk actions will be progressed 

in accordance with the agreed timelines and the tracking will be monitored using the 

hosted software (4risk).  This system will allow the responsible officers to manage the 

risks and implementation of actions alongside the agreed timescales. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Governance and Audit Committee is asked to approve the draft Strategic Risk Register 

attached at Appendix A.  

3 Reasons for the Recommendation 

3.1 Governance and Audit Committee, as part of its terms of reference, is required to monitor 

and review the risk management arrangements in place and the activities that are being 

undertaken to mitigate those risks. 

4 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

4.1 N/A 

5 Financial Implications  

5.1 These are contained within the report where appropriate. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

6 Legal and Governance Implications  

6.1 Members of the Committee are responsible for monitoring actions taken, and to be taken, 

on behalf of the Council to identify strategic risks and assess whether they are being 

102



 

 
 

effectively managed.  It is essential they are kept up to date with details of the risks and 

how they have been mitigated. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

7 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

7.1 None. 

8 Risk and Mitigation 

8.1 These are contained within the report where appropriate. 

9 Community Safety Implications  

9.1 None. 

10 Background Papers 

10.1 Strategic Risk Register 

Report to the meeting of 4 February 2021 Governance and Audit Committee 

Appendix A Strategic Risk Register 

11 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a ‘climate emergency’? 

The recommendation will have a neutral effect on the Council’s declaration of a climate 

emergency. 

12 Appendices 

12.1 Appendix A – Draft Strategic Risk Register 

 

 

103

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s28996/Strategic%20Risk%20Register.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s28997/Appendix%20A%20-%20Strategic%20Risk%20Register.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

DRAFT Strategic Risk Register – September 2021 

Risk Title, Description, Effects of Realisation and  
Current Circumstances 

Risk control 
Residual risk 

score 
Action required and date 

1.  Ensuring efficient and effective internal 
control/compliance 
 

Risk Description 
This risk focuses on the potential for failure of the Council’s core internal control 
(and governance) framework but leading to a significant loss ie financial and 
otherwise eg H&S failing.   
 
In effect the Council should be able to mitigate such a risk through rigorous 
review of design and application of the controls, hence ensuring that internal 
audit and other assurance activities are appropriately focussed. 
 
The Council is entering a changing phase including changes in behaviour, 
management structure, working styles and culture which will require a flexible 
and adaptive internal control environment.   
 
The ramifications of a significant control risk failure are substantial, not only 
with regard to the loss but often the rectification costs post event, including 
financial and reputational. 
 

Effects of Risk Realisation 
- Potential for fraud, error and loss 
- Reduced financial stability 
- Reputation damage resulting in negative media attention 
- Potential for harm/injury/death 
- Qualified External Audit Opinion/Internal Audit Opinion 
- Regulatory non-compliance (GDPR, HSE) and potential for government 

intervention 
 

Current Circumstances 
A recent internal audit review of housing compliance resulted in a negative 
opinion being provided, leading to the Council making a self-referral to the 
Regulator of Social Housing. An action plan has been developed to address the 
matters raised and this is in progress. However, the level of non-compliance, 
coupled with a nervousness over what else control failures may exist (but not 
known/ visible), has led to an increased level of risk exposure for the current 
time until the remedial action plan is complete. 

A. Annual internal audit plan developed by senior officers 
and members is targeted at key risks areas and 
responsive to new areas of risk  

B. External/internal audit regime   
C. Development of staff training plan in connection with 

core responsibilities and duties ie data protection, 
financial rules, freedom of information etc 

D. Annual Assurance Statements compiled testing 
compliance with key business activities, supporting 
Annual Governance Statement compilation 

E. Maintenance of a range of policies that underpin the 
control framework – Financial Regulations, Counter 
Fraud Strategy, Risk Management Framework, 
Contract Procedure Rules coupled with staff training   

F. Regular reporting at Governance and Audit Committee  
G. Compliance with Transparency Code  
H. Compliance with Local Code of Corporate Governance 
I. Review and update of key policies completed in last 12 

months with a view that these will be kept under 
review 

J. Key compliance roles identified and assigned ie Section 
151 Officer, Monitoring Officer, Data Protection 
Officer, H&S etc  

K. Compliance with information governance including 
General Data Protection Rule 

L. Review and update of Business Continuity Plans 
A. Corporate Plan 2021-2023 including key priorities:  

− Growth and the Economy  

− Housing that meets the needs of all Residents  

− Healthy and Strong Communities  

− Clean and Sustainable Environment  

− High Performing Council 

 
Likelihood 2 

x 
Impact 4 

= 
High 8 

 
 
 
 
 

 

i. Completion of mid-year 
management Annual Assurance 
Statements and development of 
appropriate actions, tracked 
through to completion including 
evidence 31-Oct-21 

ii. Implementation of the action plan 
arising from the independent 
governance review 31-Mar-22  

iii. Undertake actions required to 
address social housing regulator 
non-compliance and validate that 
actions undertaken have been 
effective 31-Mar-22 

iv. Undertake a review of the 
constitution and officer scheme of 
delegation and implement 
outcomes 31-May-22 

v. Undertake a review of scrutiny     
31-Dec-21 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

105



Risk Title, Description, Effects of Realisation and  
Current Circumstances 

Risk control 
Residual risk 

score 
Action required and date 

2.  Achieving Council transformation  
 

Risk Description 

The Council has entered a period of significant change and transformation, from 
back office through to front end delivery. 
 
This transformation will include but not be limited to: 
- harnessing better the use of technology and digital platforms 
- agile and flexible workforce that is managed by outcomes and delivery 
- physical changes ie buildings, assets usage etc as well as virtual interactions 
- working as part of a collaboration, partnership and joint venture involving 

other entities, both in the public sector, third sector and private sector 
 
All for the purpose of making the Council viable and sustainable as well as 
efficient, effective and economic. This risk should be considered as a driver of 
innovation and opportunity to achieve continuous improvement rather than a 
risk that needs to be managed in such a way that transformation envisaged is 
not achieved. 
 

Effects of Risk Realisation 
- New ways of working/service delivery models not adopted leading to 

increased inefficiency and ineffectiveness 
- Medium/long-term financial planning commitments not met 
- Failure to deliver Corporate Plan 2020-2023 objectives 
- Opportunities are not identified/ exploited 
- Staff disengagement 
 

Current Circumstances 

The emergence of Covid-19 has identified that the Council can effectively 
respond to a change in circumstances to ensure continuous operations. This 
rigor now needs to be applied to ensure this momentum continues and that 
positive experiences and benefits achieved as a result of recent changes are not 
lost. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A. New ways of working programme arrangements in 
place 

B. Communications plan (internal) allowing for regular 
staff engagement/progress updates 

C. Staff/union engagement  
D. Project management/capability 
E. Partnership lead 
F. ICT development roadmap and strategy 
G. Organisational change programme in place 
H. Commercial lead/capabilities in house to identify 

opportunities  
I. Regular reporting on transformation programme to 

Corporate Management Team 
J. Financial/budgetary monitoring by Cabinet 
K. Performance management and key performance 

indicators in place 
L. Staff/officer wellbeing and support  
M. Corporate Plan 2021-2023 
N. Development of Workforce Strategy and enabling an 

agile workforce 
O. Hybrid working model 
P. Appraisal process 

 
Likelihood 2 

x 
Impact 3 

= 
High 6 

 
 
 
 
 

 

i. Review office accommodation and 
embed an agile approach to working 
by utilising cultural and 
technological changes 31-Mar-22 

ii. Instigate/continue to track “lessons 
learned” from Covid-19 with a view 
to identifying further opportunities 
that should be progressed in 
connection with improving service 
delivery 31-Oct-21  

iii. Allocate resource to support 
Corporate Plan ambitions               
30-Nov-21 

iv. Review partnerships with other 
public sector partners to explore 
new and existing opportunities to 
deliver to residents and businesses 
31-May-22 

v. Undertake a peer review within 
2021-22 31-Dec-21 

vi. Undertake a constitution review and 
implement outcomes 31-May-22 

vii. Review of ICT roadmap 30-Sep-21 

106



Risk Title, Description, Effects of Realisation and  
Current Circumstances 

Risk control 
Residual risk 

score 
Action required and date 

3.  Supporting communities 
 

Risk Description 
Creating safe, vibrant and supportive communities is a core role of the Council. 
The Council holds a unique position with the ability to act as a catalyst for this 
purpose drawing together individuals, neighbourhoods, agencies and businesses 
to transform communities.   
 
The Council does not want to position itself solely as the provider of services but 
be the mechanism that drives others to do so and provides steerage via the role 
of Members who have a unique insight into the needs of the District’s 
communities. This might be in a coordination, strategy, financing/ funding 
access role or a voice, as well as attracting investment, to name but just some of 
the enabling activities.   
 
This provides the Council the opportunity to think innovatively in conjunction 
with its communities to achieve a greater return through connectivity both 
physical, emotional and technological. This risk should be considered as a driver 
of innovation and opportunity to achieve community improvement rather than 
a risk that needs to be managed in such a way that transformation envisaged is 
not achieved. 
 

Effects of Risk Realisation 

- Failure to deliver the Corporate Plan 2020-2023 objectives 
- Contributes to community deterioration/lack of resilience 
- Reputation damage for the Council – negative media attention 
- Missed opportunities (to attract investment – generate income/improve 

quality of life for residents) 
- SKDC deliver services in a way that doesn’t meet needs of residents 
- Unfavourable perception/reality that the Council (and Members) are out of 

touch 
 

Current Circumstances 
Communities are likely to be negatively impacted due to Covid-19 further still as 
the national and local economy shrinks. This will create additional pressures on 
local businesses and job security. 
 
 
 

B. Review and application of the Council’s Local Plan, 
including active monitoring of the implementation 

C. Clear and agreed transformation objectives 
D. SK Community focussed initiatives and funding streams 

targeted at supporting voluntary and community 
sectors  

E. InvestSK supporting economy growth  
F. Corporate Plan 2021-2023  
G. Community liaison officers/leads 
H. Customer Experience Strategy (how they access 

services etc) 
I. ICT Strategy 
J. Customer satisfaction feedback monitored to drive 

change 
K. Close working partnership with the Police 
L. New cultural strategy 
 
 
 

 
Likelihood 2 

x 
Impact 3 

= 
High 6 

 
 
 
 

 

i. Develop strategy to invest in high 
quality leisure facilities across the 
district 31-Mar-22 

ii. Covid-19 Recovery Plan being 
implemented in partnership with 
others from the Local Resilience 
Forum 31-Mar-22 

iii. Regeneration of Grantham Town 
Centre supported by the Future 
High Street fund 30-Sep-23 

iv. Identify funding and other 
opportunities to support 
development of Bourne, Stamford 
and Market Deeping town centres 
31-Mar-22 

v. Review the scope and focus of 
InvestSK to maximise the support to 
local businesses and attract inward 
investment 30-Sep-21 

vi. Implement key actions for future 
proofing waste service delivery in 
line with national waste collection 
changes introduced by Defra         
31-Mar-23 

vii. Implement the recommendations 
from the planning review to 
improve performance and support 
local sustainable, high quality 
growth 31-Mar-22 

viii. Undertake a housing review to 
provide highest quality service to 
tenants 31-Oct-22 

ix. Continue to work in partnership 
with the police and the community 
in tackling crime by investing in the 
CCTV service 31-Mar-23 

x. Implement key actions arising from 
the Arts, Culture and Events Service 
Review 31-Mar-22  

107



Risk Title, Description, Effects of Realisation and  
Current Circumstances 

Risk control 
Residual risk 

score 
Action required and date 

4.  Achieving future financial resilience 
 

Risk Description 
This risk relates to the Council being unable to properly execute and achieve its 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 
 
The Council is developing a coherent and sustainable response to the forecasted 
reductions in funding over the medium term. The successful transformation of 
the Council will not only impact on the Council outlook and culture, ie a council 
that makes good evidenced based decisions and gets things done but will also 
have a significant impact on Council finances. 
 
The current budget incorporates budgeted savings and delivery of income 
streams which need to be managed and realised to ensure that balanced 
budgets can be achieved without any reliance on the use of reserves. 
 
This risk is also closely linked to the delivery of the Council transformation 
agenda and is reliant on ensuring that the Council has available suitable skills 
and experiences to support initiatives. 
 

Effects of Risk Realisation 
- Reduction in cashflow position - breach banking/loan covenants 
- Reduced financial stability 
- Opportunities cannot be pursued – future reductions required (staff/non-

statutory service provision) 
- Reputational damage resulting in negative media attention 
- Qualified External Audit Opinion/ Internal Audit Opinion 
- Increased scrutiny/intervention 
 

Current Circumstances 
The likely economic slowdown that has been predicted as a result of Covid-19 
has the potential to weaken the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) as the 
opportunity to generate new income streams could now be less as the economy 
shrinks, coupled with the potential for further need to support communities due 
to closure of local businesses and job losses. In the longer term it is likely that 
austerity measures will return.  
 
 
 

A. Annual review of MTFP updating the three year 
horizon scan including reserve levels and future 
changes to funding   

B. Annual budget setting for revenue and capital 
including funding    

C. Utilisation of external financial support that provides 
support for funding modelling    

D. Regular budget monitoring reports and updates to 
senior officers and Members   

E. Treasury Management Strategy to ensure the Council 
are acting within the prudential indicators    

F. Development of savings plans and invest to save 
initiatives 

G. Maintain appropriate level of financial reserves as 
contingency arrangements to provide resilience over 
the medium term  

H. Development of capital plans in accordance with 
Capital Strategy with full financial appraisal and 
revenue implications 

I. Development of commercial opportunities and income 
generation proposals in order to build financial 
headroom  

 
Likelihood 2 

x 
Impact 3 

= 
High 6 

 
 
 
 

 

i. Continuation of the development of 
the strategic finance modelling 
under different scenarios 31-Dec-21 

ii. Undertake stress testing on the 
MTFP using various scenarios        
31-Dec-21 

iii. Evaluation of capital scoring and 
appraisal methodology to ensure 
capital schemes support the 
outcomes of the Corporate Plan   
31-Oct-21 

iv. Review of Treasury Management 
Strategy -specifically borrowing 
proposals 31-Dec-21 

xi. Undertake asset management 
review and development of asset 
management plan 31-Mar-22 

108



Risk Title, Description, Effects of Realisation and  
Current Circumstances 

Risk control 
Residual risk 

score 
Action required and date 

5.  Creating the right culture, capacity and 
capability 
 

Risk Description 
This risk relates to the Council being unable to successfully achieve the level of 
change expected and required by Council leaders and stakeholders. In creating 
the change will come a new culture and outlook that is described as “agile” and 
“outcome focussed” ie we do what we say we will. 
 
Key to the above will be ensuring that: 
- The Council keeps under close watch recruitment, talent development and 

retention, as well as use of external specialists where necessary 
- Partnership and collaborative working is optimised 
- An appropriate operating environment and culture is created that will enable 

the necessary changes to occur. This may require a review of constitutional 
policies and procedures and a re-assessment of risk appetite at all levels in 
the Council, specifically members 

- Member/officer mind sets are aligned regards the change initiatives enabling 
the appropriate cultural change 

 

Effects of Risk Realisation 
- Reduced staff motivation/morale/staff burn out resulting in high 

sickness/absences 
- Poor performance 
- High recruitment and agency costs 
- Lack of innovation 
- Skill gaps 
- Deterioration of service quality through loss of experienced staff 
- Reputation damage via social media 
 

Current Circumstances 
There have been a number of recent management changes, coupled with the 
continued impact of Covid-19, which has created some elements of uncertainty, 
whether real or perceived, and this can undermine resilience of staff. 
 
 

A. The staff requisition process (assessment of needs and 
business case re posts)   

B. Culture change workshops/action plan to enhance 
mindsets, encourage collaboration and engender a 
culture that enables change and innovation   

C. Mapping of talent to corporate strategy as part of 
resource determination 

D. Learning and development programme providing 
training, tools and techniques to develop the necessary 
skills    

E. Check-ins (PDRs) 
F. People and Organisational Development Strategy 

revised and issued   
G. Investigation and identification of further 

collaborations that will support building capacity and 
capability (and resilience) including both public and 
corporate business 

H. Corporate Plan 2021-2023 

 
Likelihood 2 

x 
Impact 3 

= 
High 6 

 
 
 
 
 

 

i. Review People and Organisational 
Development Strategy to include a 
pay review and agile working styles 
31-Dec-21 

ii. Undertake an assessment of Council 
corporate resilience with a view to 
creating a programme of learning 
and development that will 
strengthen individual coping 
strategies and performance           
30-Jun-22 

iii. Undertake annual review of 
resources across the Council         
31-Mar-22 

iv. Develop action plan arising from 
employee survey 30-Nov-21 

v. Undertake learning and 
development programmes including 
fostering leadership skills 31-Dec-21 

vi. Embed positive member/officer 
relationship 31-May-22 109



Risk Title, Description, Effects of Realisation and  
Current Circumstances 

Risk control 
Residual risk 

score 
Action required and date 

6.  Ability to be agile and shift focus in 
response to policy and national political 
change 
 

Risk Description 
This risk relates to the Council being unable to identify, interpret and act 
on/respond to political and policy change and therefore best position itself to 
maximise on opportunities that this may present or to mitigate risks that may 
emerge as a result and impact on existing plans and strategies. 
 
The UK is still transitioning through Brexit of which there is still large scale 
uncertainty at a macro level and how this may translate at a local level both 
economically and socially, for communities, business and the Council itself. 
Similar is the outcomes of the recent election with the Government embarking 
on its future path which is intrinsically linked with Brexit. In addition, there are a 
number of changes in other public sector bodies which will or could impact on 
the Council/ Communities. The Council needs to be well positioned to have 
early sight of these and potential implications. 
 

Effects of Risk Realisation 
- Potential breach of regulation/ legislation 
- Threat to future financial viability 
- Trigger regulator inspections/scrutiny 
- Missed opportunities/failure to exploit opportunities that may arise 
- Council becomes disconnected from residents/local businesses 
- Management has to spend increased resources on ‘firefighting’ 
- Negative media and press 
 

Current Circumstances 
There are two dimensions that should be recognised at this point:  
  
- The ongoing impact of Covid-19 and how this will impact on government 

priorities and planning  
- The potential for a further economic financial crisis, including likely future 

austerity measures  
 

A. Continuous monitoring of political landscape to allow 
for early indicators of policy change  

B. Prudent financial and strategy assumptions to allow for 
agile responses (see controls under Risk 4 re MTFP) 

C. Corporate Plan 2020-2023 reviewed and updated 
where appropriate as changes identified that could 
impact on the Council and its plans ie Covid-19 

D. Section 151 Officer role providing advice to the Council 
on current/future financial challenges 

E. Monitoring Officer role providing advice to the Council 
on current/future legal challenges 

F. Reports to committee include explicit assessment of 
implications and therefore should identify/reflect 
current and future challenges 

G. Executive to undertake horizon scanning look 
out/forwards and identify possible challenges ahead 

H. Membership of Local Government Association etc 
providing information/insights to the Council 

I. Members roles and responsibilities including 
involvement in local networks, County Council, other 
agencies and national forums, enabling insight to be 
gained and shared with the Council  

J. Staff membership of professional bodies enabling own 
development and also providing for insights through 
membership of challenges that may present 
themselves to the Council 

K. Officer/member forums and networks including 
County Council, other Lincolnshire Councils and wider 
agencies for purpose of collaboratively tackling issues 
etc 

 
Likelihood 2 

x 
Impact 4 

= 
High 8 

 
 
 
 

 

i. Develop stakeholder 
map/engagement plan to identify 
key individuals/organisations        
31-Mar-22 

ii. Establish, maintain and monitor a 
list of “emerging risks” and 
undertake scenario planning         
31-Mar-22 

iii. CMT to attend professional 
events/forums and provide 
feedback 31-Mar-22 

110



Risk Title, Description, Effects of Realisation and  
Current Circumstances 

Risk control 
Residual risk 

score 
Action required and date 

7.  Ensuring robust security measures to 
protect the Council’s data and assets from 
external threats 
 

Risk Description 
This risk relates to the Council’s ability to defend itself against the constantly 
evolving threat from cyber based attack. The Council, in common with other 
public bodies, should be regarded as a high profile target given the impact and 
publicity a successful attack can have. 
 
The Council, through the measures in place, repels almost on a daily basis 
“attack vectors” launched by adversaries from across the globe. The risk to the 
Council of not maintaining these effective controls and it’s continuing to invest 
in these countermeasures is very high. 
 
Officer education and vigilance in identifying suspicious contacts is as important 
as the security systems that are in place. 
 

Effects of Risk Realisation 
The consequences of a successful attack can have a number of consequences, 
not just operational but also reputational. The impact is not just an internal one, 
but it also has consequences for our customers if we cannot provide our 
essential services. 
 

Current Circumstances 
Over the years IT have installed, upgraded, and maintained various security 
systems to ensure the continued protection of Council systems and data. 
 
Policies and procedures are in place to help ensure all necessary measures are 
taken by IT officers and Council staff to detect and prevent any malicious access 
attempts. 
 
Specialist cyber training has been delivered to relevant IT staff as well as cyber 
awareness training authority wide. 
 
A recent audit has identified areas of potential weakness and where 
improvement can be made 

A. Physical enterprise level firewalls are in place on the 
Council’s network.  A default deny-all principle is 
adopted for the firewall rule base with a limited 
number of permitted connections to the network.  

B. Email is screened in the cloud before being delivered 
to end users by Barracuda software. Outlook also uses 
Mcafee for checking email after delivery. 

C. Antivirus software – McAfee anti-virus installed on all 
network servers and computers. Definitions are 
updated daily and on access file scanning enabled on 
all laptop and daily full scans on servers.  Any files 
identified as infected or suspicious are blocked and 
notification sent to IT staff. 

D. Antivirus software – Fsecure antivirus is used on UTZ 
servers for protection. 

E.  Encryption – Mcafee encryption is used on all laptops 
issued. Any external devices such as USB drives must 
also be encrypted for use. This protects against online 
and physical theft. 

F.  Endpoint devices – Non approved devices cannot be 
used and are blocked by Mcafee software. 

G. Windows Server Update Services (WSUS) used to 
manage patches on its Windows servers and 
computers.  Patches are set to be automatically 
downloaded and installed on devices by policy.  

H. Penetration testing is carried out to by external 
supplier to audit/test the effectiveness of the 
measures in place. A report is provided of any 
recommended actions. 

I. A programme of familiarisation training is in place 
which simulates Malware attacks and provides training 
and support to re-enforce the messages. 

J. Awareness training of officers and staff on the threats 
of cyber attacks 

K. Continued reviewing and tightening of existing IT 
Security Policy to ensure measures adapt to the 
changing threat, including awareness, familiarisation 
and training. 

L. Acceptable use of IT policy to ensure staff are using 
equipment safely and appropriately. 

M. Relationships with other agencies such as EMWarp and 
NCSC to improve awareness of threats by alerts, 
bulletins and regular meetings 

 
Likelihood 2 

x 
Impact 4 

= 
High 8 

 
 
 
 

 

i. Continued development of O365 
services to improve email and anti-
virus protections 30-Nov-21 

ii. Carry out annual penetration test 
(last test 3 years ago) 31-Oct-21 

iii. Annual refresher training on cyber 
risks for all staff 31-Mar-22 

iv. Scheduled review of policies          
31-Dec-21 

v. Cyber breach policy needs to be 
created 31-Mar-22 

vi. Remove any End-of-life hardware 
and software from the domain     
31-Mar-22 

111



 

 

 

 

112



 

 

 

Safeguarding Annual Report 2020-2021 

In accordance with Article 11 of the Constitution, this report presents to the Governance and Audit 
Committee the Annual Report on Safeguarding which provides an overview of the Council’s 
involvement in the safeguarding of children, young people and vulnerable adults for 2020/2021.   

 

Report Author 

Carol Drury, Senior Community Development Officer 

 
01476 406 161 

 c.drury@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Healthy and Strong 
Communities 

Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Paul Stokes, Corporate Operations Lead 10 September 2021 

Approved by: Ken Lyon, Assistant Chief Executive 13 September 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People 
and Safer Communities 

16 September 2021 

 

Recommendation to the decision makers 

1. It is recommended that members of the Governance and Audit Committee review the 
appended 2020/21 Safeguarding Annual Report and note its contents. 

 

Governance and Audit 
Committee 

29 September 2021 

Report of: Councillor Annie Mason 
  Cabinet Member for People and 

Safer Communities 

         

113

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The 2020/21 Safeguarding Annual Report (attached at Appendix A) is provided to 

Members in accordance with the Regulatory Framework for the Governance and Audit 

Committee. 

1.2 The report provides a background to the Council’s safeguarding responsibilities; the 

impact of Covid19 on safeguarding practices, training and development opportunities and 

uptake of officers and elected Members.  The report also outlines the safeguarding 

interventions undertaken in 2020/21, including short case studies to provide a background 

to some of the interactions between residents and officers. Also included is background to, 

and the outcome of, the Council’s submission to the statutory Section 11 Children’s 

Safeguarding Assessment required by the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership 

under our collective responsibilities relating to the Children Act 2004. 

1.3 As a District Council we have a general duty of care and statutory requirements in relation 

to the safeguarding of both children and adults.  In general, our responsibilities are to 

report incidents or concerns to the responsible authority (Lincolnshire County Council) and 

to work with other agencies to ensure the welfare of children and vulnerable adults. The 

Safeguarding Annual Report reflects these duties and highlights how safeguarding is a 

Council-wide responsibility. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1  N/A 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 No other options.  This report is provided to Members for information. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 N/A 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 To ensure Members have an overview of the Council’s safeguarding responsibilities and 

are assured that the Authority has appropriate policy, procedure in place, staff are trained 

to identify safeguarding concerns and know how to respond and that action has been taken 

during 2020/21 relating to the safeguarding of vulnerable individuals within the District.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Policy and procedures will be regularly reviewed to ensure they meet with national and local 

requirements.  Training for officers and Elected Members will continue to be available both 

in house and through the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership and Lincolnshire 

Safeguarding Adults Board.   

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There are no legal and governance implications arising which are not already referred to in 

the body of the report or Appendix A. 

114



 

 
 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 Equality impact has been analysed as part of the development and implementation of the 

Safeguarding policy and its associated procedures.  Issues of equality and the fair treatment 

of all individuals regardless of their diversity are addressed throughout these documents. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No risk relating to this report have been identified. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 There are no direct community safety implications resulting from this report.  There is 

however the potential for such implications within any individual safeguarding case 

identified in the delivery of our duties.  Any identified implication would be addressed on a 

case-by-case basis. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Not applicable. 

13 Other Implications (where significant) 

13.1 None identified. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None. 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix A: Safeguarding Annual Report 2020/21 

 

 

 

 

 

115



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Safeguarding 

Annual Report 2020/21 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

117



 

 

1. Introduction 
 
This report provides an overview of the Authority’s safeguarding responsibilities in relation to 
children, young people and adults at risk of harm. 

The Council’s policy sets out its commitment to protect: “children, young people and adults who 
need safeguarding, including employees, volunteers, apprentices and students; those who use 
our services or are cared for by others who use our services; and those with whom our staff, 
elected members, volunteers and key contractors have contact”. 

This document further provides an overview of the impact of Covid19 on safeguarding, 
outcomes from the internal safeguarding review carried out in 2020/21 and discusses: 

• Our responsibilities as a district council in relation to safeguarding and Prevent 

• Training and development opportunities and outcomes for officers and elected Members 

• Safeguarding Interactions  

• The outcome for South Kesteven of the S11 Safeguarding Children Assessment 2020 

• The forthcoming Lincolnshire Assessment and Assurance Framework (Safeguarding 

Adults) in 2022 

 

2.  Responsibilities 
 
2.1 Safeguarding Review 
Safeguarding requires the commitment of the Council as a whole if we are to help to protect 
children, young people and vulnerable adults from harm. Safeguarding is everyone’s 
business and we must ensure that elected members and staff from all our service areas, 
particularly the community-focused services, are trained, are able to recognise signs of safety 
and, most importantly, act upon concerns.  

An internal review of our Safeguarding practice was carried out during 2020/21. The review 
helped to determine areas of improvement under the headings of: 

• Governance and Visibility  

• Tools and Training  

• Processes and approach  

 

Recommendations from this review highligted that, whilst the responsibility for safeguarding 
vulnerable individuals falls to us all, regardless of our individual role or position within the 
Council, much of the day-to-day responsibility for policy, procedure, ensuring appropriate 
training, support and advice fell to one person, creating a single point of failure.  To support our 
officers, elected Members, volunteers and contractors the Authority has identified safeguarding 
officers across a number of teams to assist and advise whenever necessary. The Council’s 
Strategic Lead for Safeguarding is Ken Lyon, Assistant Chief Executive. Our Operational Lead 
for Safeguarding Carol Drury sits within our Corporate Operations Team and is the Authority’s 
Senior Community Development Officer. This officer represents South Kesteven District Council 
and the other six district authorities of Lincolnshire at meetings of the Policy, Procedures, 
Education and Training sub-group of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership. The 
Authority also has two Deputy Safeguarding Officers. These officers, like our strategic and 
operational leads, can support in relation to the safeguarding of both adults and children but 
each has a specific focus. Kati Conway, Senior Neighbourhoods Officer, is based at Mowbeck 
House and is deputy safeguarding officer for children.  Beth Randall is the Senior Tenancy 
Support Officer in Housing services and is the deputy safeguarding officer for adults. This group 

118



 

 

of officers has met on a monthly basis to continue to review practice, to discuss and agree 
required attendance at multi-agency meetings and to discuss, as appropriate, cases and the 
Authority’s interactions with vulnerable individuals. 

 

Training, which is discussed in more detail in section four, is generally supplied via 
Lincolnshire’s Safeguarding Children Partnership and Safeguarding Adults Board. The Council’s 
Safeguarding Policy is regularly updated to ensure training requirements are kept up to date 
and in accordance with the requirements of these bodies.  The internal review further 
highlighted the need to return to face-to-face sessions being delivered in house for those not 
able to access the internet.  

 

The Safeguarding Policy, support tools, links to contacts, useful information and statutory 
guidance are available via the Council’s intranet. Hard copies of the Safeguarding Policy, 
guidance documents and credit card-sized information cards are made available to visiting 
officers and to service areas where officers have limited or no access to the intranet.  The 
information cards are also provided for elected Members.   

 
2.2 Safeguarding 
As a district authority our services are predominantly provided for adults and those who are 
vulnerable must be protected from harm.  This does not mean however that we do not have a 
legal and moral obligation to safeguard children and young people too. The Council has 
statutory duties under Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 and Sections 42-45 of the Care Act 
2014 to protect individuals from harm and neglect and to co-operate with other agencies. 

Our responsibilities for the protection of both children and adults are, in basic terms, the same – 
to report incidents or concerns to the responsible authority (Lincolnshire County Council) and to 
work with other agencies to ensure the welfare of children and vulnerable adults.  

 
Safeguarding is the broader term used for the measures available to protect the health and 
wellbeing of children, young people and vulnerable adults to live free from abuse, harm and 
neglect.  
 
In terms of the safeguarding of children and young people1, Lincolnshire has processes for early 
help and intervention which allow agencies to work together to support families at the earliest 
possible time. Through early intervention, children can be the subject of a ‘Team Around the 
Child’ in which the additional needs of the child and its family are met, with their consent, 
through a multi-agency approach.  Depending on the needs of the family, officers from this 
Authority will be invited to attend and participate in Team Around the Child meetings. 

 
The statutory guidance that accompanies the Care Act 2014 (the Act) defines adult 
safeguarding as “protecting an adult’s right to live in safety, free from abuse and neglect.  It is 
about people and organisations working together to prevent and stop both the risks and 
experience of abuse or neglect, while at the same time making sure that the adult’s wellbeing is 
promoted including, where appropriate, having regard to their views, wishes, feelings and 
beliefs in deciding on an action.  This must recognise that adults sometimes have complex 
interpersonal relationships and may be ambivalent, unclear or unrealistic about their personal 
circumstances” 

 
1 A ‘child’ is defined as a person who has not yet reached their 18th birthday (including unborn children). In 

Lincolnshire this definition extends to the age of 25 for people with disabilities. 

 

119



 

 

It is clear from this definition that adult safeguarding has its challenges.  The Act is however 
clear that:  

“A local authority2 must act when it has ‘reasonable cause to suspect that an adult in its area 
(whether or not ordinarily resident there): 

• has needs for care and support (whether or not the authority is meeting any of those 

needs) 

• is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect, and 

• as a result of those needs is unable to protect himself or herself against the abuse or 

neglect or the risk of it” 

In basic terms adult safeguarding is for people who, because of issues such as dementia, 
learning disability, mental ill-health or substance abuse have care and support needs that may 
make them more vulnerable to abuse and neglect. 

Safeguarding referrals relating to adults must always be made with the explicit consent of the 
individual unless gaining consent would put the individual in danger. Referral without consent, in 
“the best interests” of the individual can also be made if it is assessed that the person lacks the 
mental capacity (as defined by the Mental Capacity Act 2005) to make an informed decision.  

2.2 Prevent 
The introduction of the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act in 2015 placed a duty on local 
authorities (County and District in two tier areas) in all our functions to have “due regard to the 
need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism”. 

In complying with the duty, we are expected to ensure that our venues and resources do not 
provide a platform for extremists and are not used to disseminate extremist views.  This 
includes considering whether IT equipment available to the general public should use filtering 
solutions that limit access to terrorist and extremist material. 

We are further expected to ensure that organisations that work with us are not engaged in any 
extremist views and, where appropriate, to take the opportunity when new contracts for the 
delivery of our services are being made to ensure that the principles of the duty are written in to 
those contracts in a suitable form. 

Prevent falls within the safeguarding arena.  The grooming of vulnerable individuals into 
radicalisation and extreme ideologies is regarded as a safeguarding concern and must be 
addressed as such.  The referral pathways are different, but the principles are the same. 

It is essential to know that Prevent operates in the NON-CRIMINAL space.  This means working 
with individuals who have not yet committed a crime but are vulnerable to radicalisation in 
whatever form that takes.  The aim of Prevent is to support such individuals, to divert them away 
from violent extremism before they commit any criminal acts. Prevent does this through a 
process called Channel. The process is a multi-agency approach to identify and provide support 
to individuals who are at risk of being drawn into extremism. Individuals who exhibit concerning 
behaviour in relation to an extreme ideology can be referred to Channel if they give their explicit 
consent. 

The Strategic Lead for Safeguarding is also the Authority’s Prevent Lead. The Authority is 
represented on the county’s Prevent Steering Group by its Deputy Prevent Officer, Carol Drury 
who works in partnership with other agencies represented on the Steering Group to develop the 

 
2 The Care Act 2014 and the Statutory Guidance refers throughout to the responsibilities of the Local Authority.  In a 

two-tier county the Local Authority refers to the County Council. 

120



 

 

Counter Terrorism Local Profile for Lincolnshire and its accompanying Action Plan. Prevent 
Leads are also responsible for South Kesteven District Council’s contribution to the county’s 
Strategic Risk Register for Prevent. The Deputy Prevent Officer participates in an Engagement 
sub-group that develops and delivers engagement activity to raise awareness of Prevent and 
the support available for those groomed into extremist ideology.  

SKDC has not been involved in any multi-agency Channel meetings during 2020/21. Individuals 
have been identified by other agencies that, although not meeting the threshold for a Channel 
intervention, have been identified as vulnerable. Alternative support was made available to 
these individuals.   

3. Covid19  
 
The Covid19 pandemic, lockdowns and requirements to shield or isolate presented many 
obstacles to safeguarding during 2020.  In pre-pandemic times, safeguarding concerns were 
generally uncovered during home visits or in face-to-face interactions with our customers. Our 
primary reasons for any direct interaction with the residents of our district are rarely, initially 
related to safeguarding.  Our officers are, however, trained to spot signs of safety when 
engaging with both adults and children and so what might start out as a noise complaint, a 
neighbour dispute or a routine environmental health check at a property could uncover an issue 
or cause concern to a visiting officer which would need to be explored further under our 
safeguarding responsibilities. During the Covid19 restrictions we were, for large amounts of 
time, unable to carry out many of our community facing services in the same way relying heavily 
on telephone, Skype and email interactions.   
 
Officers are trained to ask questions that are open and leave room for the individual to respond 
fully. These are referred to as TED questions: tell me about, explain what happened, describe 
how that made you feel. This type of questioning and the need to be ‘professionally curious’ 
(asking the difficult questions to ascertain the reality of a person’s situation) were never more 
important that during the restrictions.  
 
The signs of safety usually spotted where more difficult to identify when officers were not able to 
make home visits and interact directly with residents.  To ensure our staff were equipped to 
continue to keep our residents free from harm safeguarding officers worked with training 
colleagues from the Safeguarding partnerships of Lincolnshire to develop and distribute 
guidance to highlight the differing nuances within speech and behaviour that could be picked up 
in non-face-to-face conversation. This would help identify warning signs and ensure staff knew 
when to take action to help support an individual or protect them from harm. These guidance 
notes were written in a conversational style and not only highlighted what officers needed to be 
listening for but also acknowledged that interacting in this way, being constantly alert for the 
things that people said or the way they said it without having the benefit of watching body 
language, could be emotionally challenging. Increased support was available from the Council’s 
Safeguarding Leads to front-line staff during the periods of time when officers were not able to 
meet residents face-to-face. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

121



 

 

4. Training and Development  
 
4.1 Officers 
The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership and the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adult’s 
Board requires that partners follow a six-year training pathway that contain training specific to 
levels of interaction with children, young people and vulnerable adults.  The training is provided 
to partners free of charge and is a mix of e-learning and face-to-face modules. In addition to this 
training, officers and Elected Members are required to undergo Prevent training to fulfil the 
requirements of the Local Authority Prevent Duty. 
 
200 e-learning or virtual training modules were completed by officers in 2020/21.  All face-to-
face training was suspended by the Safeguarding Children Partnership and Safeguarding Adults 
Board from March 2020 due to COVID-19. Training Officers from the partnerships developed 
virtual sessions to allow training to continue despite restrictions. Modules relating to Mental 
Health Awareness and Support were added to the training package during 2020/21.  Topics 
covered are listed in the table below: 
 

Awareness of Domestic 
Violence and Abuse 

Basic Awareness of Child and 
Adult Exploitation 

Awareness of Self Harm 

Awareness of Suicidal 
Thoughts 

Friends Against Scams Hate Crime 

Hidden Harm3 Information Sharing Inter-agency Safeguarding 
Children 

Introduction to 
Safeguarding Adults 

Introduction to Safeguarding 
Children 

Mental Capacity Act 

Mental Health Awareness Mental Health, Dementia and 
Learning Disability 

Modern Slavery and 
Trafficking 

Parental Mental Health Radicalisation and Extremism Safeguarding Everyone in 
Lincolnshire 

Special Educational Needs 
and Disability (SEND) 

Supporting Your Staff through 
Mental Health 

Working with Adults who Self 
Neglect 

 
The level of direct involvement staff have with children, young people or vulnerable adults also 
determines how often training needs to be undertaken.  Community focused staff are required to 
undertake some form of safeguarding training on an annual basis whilst those without direct 
involvement need only complete training appropriate to the service area and level of 
responsibility within that area once within the required cycle unless changes to legislation, 
statutory guidance or procedures require that an update/refresher be completed.  
 

4.2 Elected Members 
Historically a safeguarding briefing has formed part of Members induction training following an 

election with a follow-up session delivered mid-way through the term of office.  Ten Members 

have participated in safeguarding training this year.  

The development and approval of a new Safeguarding Policy provided an opportunity in 

2019/20 to review the provision of safeguarding training to Members and the requirement 

placed upon them to participate.  To that end, when the Safeguarding Policy 2020/23 was 

approved by Cabinet in March 2020 the decision was taken to introduce mandatory 

safeguarding e-learning for Elected Members to be completed across their term of office that 

would complement the in-house training provided during Member induction.   

 
3 Hidden Harm training looks at the impact of parental drug and alcohol misuse on children and young people 

122



 

 

The new requirement from 2020/21 was for Members to complete an e-learning module relating 

to Safeguarding Everyone in Lincolnshire within their first year in office a further requirement 

for all Members to complete additional safeguarding-related e learning modules during their 

term of office.  Those being: 

• Hate Crime and Mate Crime 

• Friends Against Scams 

• Understanding Pathways to Extremism and the Prevent Agenda 

• Trafficking, Exploitation and Modern Slavery 

Confirmation of completed training modules has been captured in the Safeguarding central 
training database. It is important to note, particularly given the mandate to complete this 
training, that only eight of the Council’s fifty-six elected Members have completed any of the 
required training to date. 
 
A record of the training completed by officers and elected Members is held centrally and 
reminder e mails are sent to individuals when new training is required or refreshers need to be 
completed. 
 
 

5. Safeguarding Interactions and Interventions  
 
Whilst there are requirements on us as a district council to have identified strategic and deputy 
leads for safeguarding it should be acknowledged that there are no safeguarding-specific roles 
within the Authority.  This does not undermine the importance of the safeguarding of individuals 
from harm and neglect but seeks to highlight the fact that safeguarding is everyone’s 
responsibility.  Officers from across the Authority have the knowledge, skill and training to 
identify the potential for harm and to refer individuals to the appropriate support service when a 
concern is identified. Support for officers and elected Members is available through our 
safeguarding leads as detailed in item 2.1 of this report. 
 
Any officer in the course of their duties, or an elected member carrying out their representational 
role, may witness, or be informed of, an issue that they feel should be referred to Adult or 
Children’s Services. Referrals are made on behalf of the Authority by the Operational Lead for 
Safeguarding or a Deputy Safeguarding Officer with the exception of those made by colleagues 
in Housing and Neighbourhoods who refer directly to the responsible authority. All instances are 
also reported to the Operational Lead for Safeguarding and a central record is held to assist in 
identifying trends and ‘hot spot’ locations. During 2020/21 officers made 10 referrals to social 
care.  These referrals related to 9 adults and 4 children.  

Designated officers also attend Multi-agency Child Exploitation (MACE) meetings were cases of 
missing children and those being criminally or sexually exploited are discussed and partner 
actions agreed.  This could be simply providing support to the family to address issues through 
to agreeing and issuing closure orders on properties to disperse or stop criminal activity from 
taking place in identified locations. Vetted officers attend Multi-agency Risk Assessment 
Conferences (MARAC) in relation to high-level domestic abuse cases and any officer working 
with a child, family or vulnerable adult will attend Team Around the Child, Child in Need, Child 
Protection Conferences, Vulnerable Adults Panels, Team Around the Adult and Channel 
meetings on invitation. Officers can instigate Team Around the Child and Team Around the 
Adult meetings as early interventions within the safeguarding arena.  

123



 

 

As previously highlighted, the Covid19 restrictions meant that officers were not able to carry out 
home visits for large periods of time during 2020/21.  The vigilance of officers working in 
housing and neighbourhoods teams however was evident in the support given and referrals 
made during this year.  Their tenacity was also evident in cases such as that of an eighty-three-
year-old lady with learning disabilities who our officers suspected was being financially abused 
by those she believed were caring for her.  This case was deemed not to meet a safeguarding 
threshold when it was first referred to Adult Social Care however, further accusations by 
members of the public and police involvement over a period of two months resulted in the 
second referral by the housing officer being accepted and a Section 42 (adult safeguarding) 
enquiry was carried out. 

Another concern was raised about a gentleman who had been contacted as part of the 
befriending service provided by the Council.  This gentleman was already socially isolated 
before the pandemic and the resulting lockdowns and restrictions because he lived alone and 
his first language was not English.  He had no contact with anyone who spoke his language and 
he had no family living in this country.  His mental health was compromised and his evident 
distress during his weekly befriending calls was a cause of great concern to our officers. The 
lifting of restrictions, whilst allowing him to get out to the shops and take exercise still left him 
isolated.  This in itself would not have reached a safeguarding threshold (meaning a person 
needs to be protected from harm) but he clearly needed support.  Housing officers carried out a 
welfare check at his home and subsequently referred him to mental health services for 
psychological support and Lincolnshire Wellbeing service for practical support around the home. 

Hoarding is becoming one of the most common reasons for safeguarding interventions in South 
Kesteven.  During 2020/21 officers worked with residents in relation to ten cases of hoarding.   

The Neighbourhoods Team received a report of an untidy garden, which, on the face of it, is 
anti-social behaviour.  As previously stated however, the issue we are initially requested to 
investigate can hide underlying wellbeing or safeguarding concerns. When the property was 
visited it became quickly apparent the occupier had not left the house in several years.  She 
suffered with her mental health and was agoraphobic. The property was privately rented but the 
landlord had not been carrying out annual checks. The property was in a poor condition 
structurally and was rated 9/10 on the hoarding scale with an infestation of rats. 

Neighbourhood’s Officers had to gain the occupant’s trust to enable us to make the living 
conditions better. The occupant suffered with physical and mental health problems. With the 
occupier’s permission, officers contacted the GP, made a referral to Adult Social care and Lincs 
Wellbeing service to ensure the individual had all the support they needed. The officer also 
worked with the landlord of the property to clear and treat the infestation. 

Whilst this work made the property acceptable, its former condition and its location had 
impacted greatly on the occupier’s mental and physical wellbeing so officers continued to work 
alongside her to make an application for more suitable accommodation. 

The individual now lives in suitable accommodation which meets their physical health needs, 
they are in receipt of the correct benefits and are receiving support for their mental health and 
physical health conditions.  

A further intervention happened whilst the Neighbourhoods Team was dealing with an anti-
social behaviour case. The allegation was made in relation to the children and the lone parent 
(Mum).  In this instance the alleged perpetrators were quickly identified to be the victims. 
Alongside investigating an ongoing case, the officer worked with Mum to gain a rapport.  It 
became evident that many of the issues within the family unit were connect to or a direct result 
of a previous abusive relationship.  The parent eventually consented to help and the officer was 
able to refer her in to Edan Lincs to get her support for effects of the historic domestic abuse 

124



 

 

relationship which had knocked her confidence. Mum also accepted an early help assessment 
and was offered a parenting course alongside more support from school which has created a 
positive relationship with the children’s home school learning.  

It is important to acknowledge that not all referrals to either Adult or Children’s Services meet 
their required threshold. Referrals, particularly for adults, can be made multiple times by this 
Authority and by other partner agencies before a case is taken and a social worker appointed.   
In cases were the threshold for intervention by social care is not met, alternative means of 
support are put in place locally. This support can be by way of a multi-agency approach (health, 
education, wellbeing, housing for example).  The support provided would be based on need.  If 
the case related to a specific issue the most appropriate single agency would provide support. 

6. Section 11 Audit 

Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 places duties on a range of organisations and individuals to 
ensure their functions and any services they contract to others are discharged having regard to 
the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. As a district authority these duties 
relate to the delivery of services such as: housing, culture and leisure services and also to our 
responsibilities as a licensing authority. 

Safeguarding Children Partnerships are required to carry out assessments of partner 
compliance with their duties under Section 11. 
 
The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership undertakes these audit assessments on a 
three-yearly cycle. The last Section 11 Audit Assessment was carried out across the 
Safeguarding Partnership’s membership during 2020/21.  The self-assessment element was 
completed between September and December 2020.    This was delayed from January – April 
2020 because of Covid19 and the increased pressures on partners during the pandemic.  
 
In previous years the Section 11 assessment in Lincolnshire (a multi-agency process consisting 
of a strategic and case file assessment) has been undertaken in two stages: 
 

1. Self-assessment process – whereby each organisation completes an online assessment 
tool under 10 headings, which is further broken down into 35 questions.  Each 
organisation is required to provide an explanation of the services or arrangements in 
place under each of the 35 questions and to provide evidence to prove they fulfill each 
requirement. Most of this evidence is uploaded onto the online toolkit and some (case 
file evidence) is viewed on site by a moderator.  A self-assessed grading is given for 
each question of red, amber or green.  Red represents no or inadequate arrangements 
in place and green represents excellent services.  
 

2. Multi-agency peer audit assessment: once each organisation has uploaded its evidence 
to the online assessment tool it is assigned a moderator from a bank of LSCP partners.  
Moderators scrutinise the evidence submitted and make an assessment of the score 
which reflects the quality and relevance of that evidence.  In addition, each moderator 
undertakes a face-to-face review meeting with the organisation and audits three case 
files and three human resources files to ensure that what happens in practice supports 
the strategic assessment.  Moderation on the 2020 assessment was due be undertaken 
in January/February 2021. 
 

In response to Covid19 the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership determined that 
moderation would only be carried out on the self-assessments produced by the three key 
safeguarding partners, those being: 
 

• Lincolnshire County Council 

125



 

 

• Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group 

• Lincolnshire Police 
 

All other agencies were required to submit a self-assessment and a random selection of 
submissions were dip-tested to provide assurance of compliance. One district council formed 
part of the dip-test process.  The self-assessment from South Kesteven District Council was not 
dip-tested however its submission was used as a model of good practice on which to measure 
the submission of others. Based on the outcome of its 2017 submission and the evidence 
provided in its 2020/21 self-assessment this Council’s self-assessed outcome was green 
(excellent) across all 10 categories. This was agreed by the Strategic Management Group of the 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership in September 2021. 
 

7. Going Forward 

 
7.1 Lincolnshire Assurance and Assessment Framework (LAAF) 
 
The Care Act 2014 places duties on a range of organisations and individuals to ensure their 
functions and any services they contract to others are discharged having regard to the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of vulnerable adults. As a district authority these duties 
relate to the delivery of services such as: housing, sport, culture and leisure services and also to 
our responsibilities as a licensing authority. 

The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board requires its partners to carry out assessments of 
partner compliance with their duties on a three-yearly cycle.  The next assessment will take 
place in 2022. 
 
The process is actioned through self-assessment – whereby each organisation completes an 
online assessment tool under seven headings, which is further broken down into 37 questions.  
Each organisation is required to provide an explanation of the services or arrangements in place 
under each of the 37 questions that are applicable to their organisation and related 
responsibilities and to provide evidence to prove they fulfill each requirement. Most of this 
evidence is uploaded onto the online toolkit and some (case file evidence) is viewed on site by 
the moderator.  A self-assessed grading is given for each question of red, amber, green or blue 
as follows: 
 

• Red = Not Effective 

• Amber = Working Towards 

• Green = Effective 

• Blue = Excelling 

 
In its last assessment, which took place in 2019, this Council achieved green status (Effective) 
across the audit.  The intention for the 2022 audit is to achieve blue (Excelling). 

7.2 Policies, Systems and Tools 

Policies and procedures will continue to be reviewed to ensure they remain fit for purpose.  Any 
changes to policy or processes will be carried out with immediate effect if legislation or statutory 
guidance is updated. 

The safeguarding officers group will continue to investigate the use of data management system 
ECINS to capture safeguarding concerns in a central location that is accessible to all relevant 
agencies involved in cases. 

126



Governance and Audit Committee Work Plan 2021-22 
 

Item Current Issues/Status 
Meeting 

Date 
Outcome Sought 

Strategic Risk Register The Strategic Risk Register is presented biannually as 
part of the monitoring and review of risk management 
arrangements 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29 
September 

2021 
 
 

To review and consider approving 
the Strategic Risk Register 

Appointment of Internal Auditors In accordance with the terms of reference, Governance 
and Audit Committee is asked to approve the 
appointment of Assurance Lincolnshire as the Council’s 
internal auditors. 

Approve the appointment of the 
Council’s internal auditors. 

Counter Fraud Annual Report 
2020-21 

One of the key areas for Governance and Audit 
Committee, as part of its terms of reference, is to 
monitor and review the counter fraud arrangements in 
place and the activities that are being undertaken to 
mitigate those risks.   

Approve the contents including the 
proposed workplan for 2021-22. 

Safeguarding Annual Report Annual review of the Council’s involvement in the 
safeguarding of children, young people and vulnerable 
adults 

To review and note the contents of 
the report 

Ombudsman Annual Report Annual review of complaints received and decisions 
made from the Local Government Ombudsman Letter 

To review and note the contents of 
the report 

Internal Audit – Progress Report 
2 

Update from the Council’s Internal Auditors  
 
 
 

20 October 
2021 

To review and note the contents of 
the report 

Internal Audit – Follow Up 
Report 2 

Follow up on progress made to implement previously 
agreed management actions 

To review and note the contents of 
the report 

External Audit – Annual 
Governance Report 

Report outlining the key findings arising from the 
statutory audit of South Kesteven District Council 

To review and note the contents of 
the report 

127

A
genda Item

 10



Governance and Audit Committee Work Plan 2021-22 
 

Item Current Issues/Status 
Meeting 

Date 
Outcome Sought 

Section 106 To provide an update on the status of Section 106 funds Members to note 

Statement of Accounts The Statement of Accounts, including the Annual 
Governance Statement, must be approved each year by 
the statutory deadline 

To approve the 2019/20 
Statement of Accounts and their 
publication on the Council’s 
website 

Internal Audit – Progress Report 
3 

Update from the Council’s Internal Auditors 

22 
December 

2021 
 
 

To review and note the contents of 
the report 

Internal Audit – Follow Up 
Report 3 

Follow up on progress made to implement previously 
agreed management actions 

To review and note the contents of 
the report 

Counter Fraud Annual Report 
Report to review the counter fraud arrangements in 
place and the activities that are being undertaken to 
mitigate those risks 

To review the contents of the 
report and consider approving the 
proposed workplan for 2020/21 

Counter Fraud Strategy 
A review of the Council’s counter fraud arrangements on 
a biennial basis 

To review and consider approving 
the Counter Fraud Strategy 

Financial Management Code 
To inform Members of the new CIPFA Financial 
Management Code which is to be implemented from 
2021/22 

To receive an update 

Internal Audit - Draft Plan Draft internal plan for 2021-22 
To review and consider inclusion 
of additional audits 

Treasury Management Mid-Year 
Review  

Update on treasury and debt management operations 
during the financial year 

To review and note the contents of 
the report 

Internal Audit – Progress Report 
4 

Update from the Council’s Internal Auditors 
 
 

To review and note the contents of 
the report 

128



Governance and Audit Committee Work Plan 2021-22 
 

Item Current Issues/Status 
Meeting 

Date 
Outcome Sought 

Internal Audit – Follow Up 
Report 4 

Follow up on progress made to implement previously 
agreed management actions 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16 March 
2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

To review and note the contents of 
the report 

Internal Audit – Draft Plan Draft internal plan for 2021-22 To review and consider approving 
the internal audit plan 

External Audit Plan Overview of the planned scope and timing of 
the statutory audit of the final accounts and the Value for 
Money work 

To consider accepting the 
External Audit Plan 

External Audit – Annual Report 
on Grants and Returns 

Report providing details on the Housing Benefit Subsidy 
claim 

To review and note the contents of 
the report 

Strategic Risk Register The Strategic Risk Register is presented biannually as 
part of the monitoring and review of risk management 
arrangements 

To review and consider approving 
the Strategic Risk Register 

Statement of Accounting 
Policies 

Annual report prior to the preparation of the Statement 
of Accounts to ensure that the policies are up to date 
and in line with the CIPFA Code of Practice 

To consider approving the 
Statement of Accounting Policies 

Review of Effectiveness and 
Terms of Reference 

Biennial review of the Committee’s Terms of Reference To consider the Committee’s work 
over the previous two municipal 
years and suggest changes to the 
Terms of Reference if necessary 

Items to be allocated 

None   
 
 

129



Governance and Audit Committee Work Plan 2021-22 
 

Item Current Issues/Status 
Meeting 

Date 
Outcome Sought 

Reports to be added when required 

External Audit ad hoc reporting 

As required 

Risk Management Framework 2021 - 2023 

Code of Corporate Governance 

Other policies e.g. Contract Procedure Rules, Codes of Conduct, Financial Regulations,  
Treasury Management Strategy, Financial Management Code 

 

130


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 21 July 2021
	5 External Audit Plan 2020 - 2021
	6 Appointment of Internal Auditors
	Appendix A:  Assurance Lincolnshire – Provision of Internal Audit Services Overview
	Appendix B:  Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21
	4 Combined Assurance Report
	Appendix A - Combined Assurance Status Report 2020/21



	7 Counter Fraud Annual Report 2020-21
	8 Strategic Risk Register
	Appendix A: Draft Strategic Risk Register

	9 Safeguarding Annual Report 2020 - 2021
	Appendix A - Safeguarding Annual Report 2020-21

	10 Work Programme 2021 - 22

